Intermittent hypoxia induces mandibular growth arrest and invokes a different response in condylar and tibial cartilage in infant rats



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Orthodontics Department of Orthodontics FACULTY OF DENTISTRY Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2020 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University ภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนเป็นพักๆ ทำให้เกิดการเจริญเติบโตที่ช้าลงของกระดูกขากรรไกรล่าง และ กระตุ้นให้เกิดการตอบสนองที่แตกต่างกันของกระดูกอ่อนบริเวณข้อต่อขากรรไกรและแข้งในหนูแรก เกิด

67 191



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาทันตกรรมจัดฟัน ภาควิชาทันตกรรมจัดฟัน คณะทันตแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2563 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	Intermittent hypoxia induces mandibular growth arrest				
	and invokes a different response in condylar and tibial				
	cartilage in infant rats				
Ву	Miss Kochakorn Lekvijittada				
Field of Study	Orthodontics				
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor CHIDSANU CHANGSIRIPUN, Ph.D.				

Accepted by the FACULTY OF DENTISTRY, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy

Dean of the FACULTY OF

DENTISTRY

(Associate Professor Pornchai Jansisyanont, Ph.D.)

DISSERTATION COMMITTEE

_____ Chairman

(Associate Professor PAIBOON TECHALERTPAISARN, Ph.D.)

Thesis Advisor

(Assistant Professor CHIDSANU CHANGSIRIPUN, Ph.D.)

..... Examiner

(Assistant Professor PINTUON CHANTARAWARATIT, Ph.D.)

..... Examiner

(Professor Ikuko Morio, Ph.D.)

..... Examiner

(Professor Keiji Moriyama, Ph.D.)

..... External Examiner

(Assistant Professor Peerapong Santiwong, Ph.D.)

กชกร เล็กวิจิตรธาดา : ภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนเป็นพักๆ ทำให้เกิดการเจริญเติบโตที่ช้าลง ของกระดูกขากรรไกรล่าง และกระตุ้นให้เกิดการตอบสนองที่แตกต่างกันของกระดูกอ่อน บริเวณข้อต่อขากรรไกรและแข้งในหนูแรกเกิด. (Intermittent hypoxia induces mandibular growth arrest and invokes a different response in condylar and tibial cartilage in infant rats) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ผศ. ทพ. ดร.ชิษณุ แจ้งศิริพันธ์

ภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนเป็นพักๆ เกี่ยวข้องกับการเติบโตของโครงกระดูก อย่างไรก็ตาม ยัง ไม่มีรายงานเกี่ยวกับอิทธิพลของภาวะนี้ต่อการเจริญเติบโตและเมแทบอลิซึมของเซลล์กระดูกอ่อน การศึกษานี้เปรียบเทียบผลของภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนเป็นพักๆ ต่อการเพิ่มจำนวนและการ เจริญเติบโตของเซลล์กระดูกอ่อนเส้นใยที่พบในกระดูกขากรรไกรล่างและกระดูกอ่อนชนิดไฮยาลิน ที่พบในกระดูกแข้งในหนูสายพันธุ์สปราก-ดาวเลย์เพศผู้อายุ 1 สัปดาห์ หนูได้รับอากาศปกติหรืออยู่ ในภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนเป็นพักๆ ที่ 20 รอบ / ชม. (ต่ำสุด 4% O2; สูงสุด 21% O2; 0% CO2) เป็นเวลา 8 ชั่วโมงในแต่ละวัน ผลการศึกษาพบว่า ภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนเป็นพักๆ ขัดขวางการเพิ่ม ของน้ำหนักตัวหนู แต่ไม่มีผลกับการเพิ่มความยาวของกระดูกแข้ง ภาวะนี้ยังทำให้กระดูกเนื้อโปร่ง บริเวณข้อต่อขากรรไกรมีความหนาแน่นของกระดูกและความหนาแน่นของกระดูกเชิงปริมาตรเพิ่ม ขึ้น รวมทั้งส่งผลให้ความหนาของชั้นเซลล์กระดูกอ่อนในระยะปรับตัวลดลง แต่ความหนาของชั้น เซลล์กระดูกอ่อนในระยะไฮเพอร์โทรฟีกลับเพิ่มมากขึ้นในบริเวณส่วนกลางและส่วนท้ายของกระดูก ้อ่อนข้อต่อขากรรไกร แต่ไม่พบความเปลี่ยนแปลงนี้ในกระดูกแข้ง ผลการศึกษาเนื้อเยื่อแสดงให้เห็น ้ว่าภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนเป็นพักๆ เปลี่ยนแปลงการเพิ่มจำนวนและการเจริญเติบโตของเซลล์กระดูก ้อ่อนในข้อต่อขากรรไกรล่างไปในทิศทางที่ทำให้เกิดการสร้างกระดูกที่เพิ่มมากขึ้น ผลการทดสอบ ปฏิกิริยาลูกโซ่พอลิเมอเรสตรวจพบการลดลงของ TGF- $m{eta}$ และ SOX9 ในขณะที่ คอลลาเจนชนิด X เพิ่มขึ้นในกระดูกอ่อนบริเวณข้อต่อขากรรไกร แสดงให้เห็นถึงการเปลี่ยนแปลงของเซลล์กระดูก ้อ่อนไปเป็นเซลล์สร้างกระดูก ซึ่งไม่พบความเปลี่ยนแปลงนี้ในกระดูกแข้ง ผลการทดลองนี้แสดงให้ เห็นว่าหนูแรกเกิดที่อยู่ในภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนเป็นพักๆ จะพบการเจริญที่น้อยลงบริเวณส่วนท้าย และส่วนข้อต่อของกระดูกขากรรไกร ร่วมกับตรวจพบการยับยั้งการแสดงออกของยีนที่เกี่ยวข้อง กับการสร้างเซลล์กระดูกอ่อนในกระดูกขากรรไกรที่ถูกยับยั้งการเจริญเติบโตนี้ ลายมือชื่อนิสิต ทันตกรรมจัดฟัน สาขาวิชา ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก ปีการศึกษา 2563

5976054732 : MAJOR ORTHODONTICS

KEYWORD: cartilaginous growth, chondrocyte hypertrophy, fibrocartilage,

hyaline cartilage, intermittent hypoxia

Kochakorn Lekvijittada : Intermittent hypoxia induces mandibular growth arrest and invokes a different response in condylar and tibial cartilage in infant rats. Advisor: Asst. Prof. CHIDSANU CHANGSIRIPUN, Ph.D.

Intermittent hypoxia (IH) has been associated with skeletal growth. However, the influence of IH on cartilage growth and metabolism is unknown. We compared the effects of IH on chondrocyte proliferation and maturation in the mandibular condyle fibrocartilage and tibial hyaline cartilage of 1-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats. The rats were exposed to normoxic air (n = 9) or IH at 20 cycles/h (nadir, 4% O_2 ; peak, 21% O_2 ; 0% CO_2) (n = 9) for 8 h each day. IH impeded body weight gain, but not tibial elongation. IH also increased cancellous bone mineral and volumetric bone mineral densities in the mandibular condylar head. The mandibular condylar became thinner, but the tibial cartilage did not. IH reduced maturative and increased hypertrophic chondrocytic layers of the middle and posterior mandibular cartilage. PCR showed that IH shifted proliferation and maturation in mandibular condyle fibrocartilage toward hypertrophic differentiation and ossification by downregulating TGF- β and SOX9, and upregulating collagen X. These effects were absent in the tibial growth plate hyaline cartilage. Our results showed that neonatal rats exposed to IH displayed underdeveloped mandibular ramus/condyles, while suppression of chondrogenesis marker expression was detected in the growth-restricted condylar cartilage.

Field of Study:	Orthodontics	Student's Signature
Academic Year:	2020	Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It would not have been possible to write this doctoral dissertation without the help and support from many people around me, who contributed in some way to the work described in this thesis.

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Assist. Prof. Chidsanu Changsiripun, and my co-advisor, Prof. Takashi Ono, for their continuous support of my Ph.D. study from the time I was accepted into this program until achieving this goal. Assist. Prof. Chidsanu helped me come up with the thesis topic and guided me over the time of development. I am very thankful for the guidance and the support he offered when needed over the past five years. The good advice and beneficial suggestions from Prof. Ono have been invaluable for which I am extremely grateful.

I am extremely grateful to Dr. Jun Hosomichi, who made this work possible, for his expert advice and assistance throughout all stages of the work. All the e-mails I sent to him were always immediately responsive whenever I had a question about my research or anything. Special thanks to Dr. Haixin Hong, who worked together with me on several phases of the project. Her help cannot be overestimated, she taught me several laboratory techniques: from turning on the X-ray machine to conducting the PCR process. Without her help, my work would have surely been more difficult. I must also thank Dr. Akemi Kanaguchi, Dr. Yang Wu, Dr. Kaku, who patiently taught me the histological techniques. I would like to thank all the members of the research group, and the international friends, for their kind help and support that have made my study and life in Japan a wonderful time.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to Prof. Vincent Everts, for his insightful suggestions and for reviewing an earlier version of the manuscript, which has provided a great improvement of the thesis. Additionally, I also wish to take a moment to thank my committee members, Professor Morio Ikuko, Assist. Prof. Peerapong Santiwong, and Assist. Prof. Pintu-on Chantarawaratit, for their constructive comments and useful suggestions on my work.

I would like to acknowledge the JSPS KAKENHI (Grant Number 16K11778) and the 100th Anniversary Chulalongkorn University Fund for Doctoral Scholarship for financial support, and the Research Core Centre of TMDU for providing the technical assistance for this study.

Finally, I would like to thank all my family members and friends, for their love and support during my PhD study. Thank you for understanding my separation from them and giving me constant encouragement.



Kochakorn Lekvijittada

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page				
ABSTRACT (THAI)	iii				
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)	iv				
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V				
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii				
Figure	ix				
Chapter I	1				
Background and rationale	1				
Chapter II					
Literature Review	6				
Intermittent Hypoxia	6				
IH effects	10				
Condylar and Tibial Cartilage growth	15				
Hypoxic condition effects on cartilage and bone development	21				
Previous related studies	27				
Chapter III	30				
Research methodology	30				
Experimental model	30				
Cephalometric Analysis	32				
Three-dimensional microcomputed tomography	36				
Histomorphometric analysis	36				
qRT-PCR	42				

Statistical analyses	43
Chapter IV	44
Results	44
Part I: Systemic growth of neonatal rats subjected to IH	44
Part II: Differential growth of craniofacial bones under IH condition	45
Part III: Effect of IH on bone mineralization in the mandibular condyle and tibial cartilage in neonatal rats	45
Part IV: Histological changes in the cartilaginous layers of the mandibular condyle and tibial epiphysis	46
Part V: Differential gene expression is associated with chondrocyte metabolis	sm
in the mandibular condyle and tibia during IH	. 47
Chapter VI	. 55
Discussion and Conclusion	. 55
REFERENCES	62
VITA	79
จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	
Chulalongkorn University	

Figure

		Page
Figure	1. Number of desaturation episodes in preterm infants.	7
Figure	2. Subtypes of apnea of prematurity	8
Figure	3. Desaturation in preterm infants secondary to apnea or respiratory pauses	9
Figure	4. Consequence of intermittent hypoxia in early life	. 10
Figure	5. Intermittent hypoxemic events in the preterm infants	. 11
Figure	6. The schematic of cellular differentiation in mandibular condyle	. 18
Figure	7. SOX9's roles in skeletal progenitors, chondrocytes and osteoblasts	. 19
Figure	8. Schematic of endochondral bone formation	. 19
Figure	9. The schematic of HIFs regulation and signaling	. 22
Figure	10. HIF downstream genes.	. 23
Figure	11. The fetal growth plate	. 25
Figure	12. Tracing of a child with large adenoids before and after	
adeno	tonsillectomy	. 28
Figure	13. The schematic drawing of the IH generator	. 31
Figure	14. Cephalometric and μ CT analysis landmarks	. 33
Figure	15. Histological images of mandibular condylar cartilage and tibial growth	
plate		. 41
Figure	16. Differential craniofacial growth in neonatal rats subjected to IH	. 48
Figure	17. IH-induced high bone mineral density in mandibular condyle and tibia	. 50
Figure	18. Histological changes in mandibular condylar cartilage of IH rats	. 51
Figure	19. Histological changes in tibial cartilage of IH rats	. 53
Figure	20. Differential effects of IH on expression levels of genes	. 54

Figure	21.	Gene	expressio	on levels	s of HII	s and	VEGF	in	mandibular	condyle	and	tibia.
												59



Chapter I

Background and rationale

Intermittent hypoxia (IH) is one of the preceding symptoms of apnea of prematurity (AOP) and sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) (1, 2). Infants are susceptible to obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) because of their anatomical and physiological predispositions toward airway obstruction and impeded gas exchange abnormalities; including a superiorly placed larynx, increased chest wall compliance, ventilation-perfusion mismatching, and ventilatory control instability (1). Micromandible, maxillary hypoplasia and macroglossia are the craniofacial characteristics in infants with OSA (3, 4).

IH causes multi-factorial morbidities in infants: neurobehavioral impairment, retardation of growth and development, and immature physiological responses in sudden infant death syndrome (5-8). Clinical investigations suggest that treatments of upper airway obstruction by adenotonsillectomy and continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) rescue children with OSA from oro-facial growth retardation (9, 10). Consistently, animal studies in the prepubertal rodents exposed to IH have recapitulated the craniofacial growth impairment; nasal bone hypoplasia with a reduced nasal cavity volume (11), mandibular growth retardation with an increased bone mineral density (11-13) and the underdevelopment of the mandibular ramus/condyle unit (14). However, there has been no report to demonstrate the

effect of IH on the craniofacial growth during infancy, despite craniofacial growth reaches its highest rate during the first 3-5 years of postnatal life in humans (15) and the first 3 weeks of postnatal life in rodents (16).

Temporomandibular joint cartilage is the fibrocartilage derived from embryonic secondary cartilage cells, and epiphyseal cartilage of mandibular condylar head is the major site of mandibular growth and remodeling (17). It has different developmental characteristics from the limb growth plates of hyaline cartilage, primary cartilaginous joint in cellular composition and organization, extracellular matrix components, and embryonic origin (18). Of interest, there are different responses to growth factors between fibrocartilage and hyaline cartilage, such as TGF- β (19, 20). Chondrocytes isolated from the temporomandibular joint and the limb express chondrogenic markers, such as type II and X collagens, SOX9, cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP). Collagen type X proteins is highly expressed in the hypertrophic chondrocytes (21, 22), and its expression apparently reflects endochondral ossification in the both types of cartilage (23, 24). Chondrogenic differentiation is triggered by transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β)/Smad signaling pathway through SOX9 (25), which upregulates collagen type II and reciprocally down-regulates collagen type X in chondrocytes (26). In addition, Sox9 keeps Runx2 expression and β -catenin signaling related to osteogenesis, which reduces the conversion of hypertrophic chondrocytes into osteoblasts and osteocytes in the cartilage-to-bone transition during the endochondral bone formation (27).

Previously, animal studies showed that IH affected a longitudinal growth of the rat mandible, compared to the tibia (11, 13). There might be specific metabolic responses to IH between the two exemplified types of cartilage: the fibrocartilage of the mandibular condyle and the hyaline cartilage of the tibial growth plate. Based on these lines of evidence, we speculated that there was a different response of cartilage or bone metabolism between the fibrous cartilage of the mandibular joint and the hyaline cartilage of the limb growth plate to IH, and to thus investigate temporal chondrogenesis marker expression.

1.1 Research questions

- Does IH disturb the growth of craniofacial bones in neonatal rats?
- Does IH differently affect growth in the cartilages of the mandibular condylar (fibrocartilage) and tibial growth plate cartilage (hyaline cartilage) in neonatal rats?
- Does IH cause temporal changes in chondrogenesis marker expression in

neonatal rats?

1.2 Research null hypotheses

- There is no difference in growth of the craniofacial bones between

experimental and control group.

- There is no difference in growth of the condylar and tibial cartilage

between experimental and control group.

- There is no difference in chondrogenesis marker expression between experimental and control group.
- 1.3 Objectives of the study

Objective 1: To inspect whether IH disturb the growth of craniofacial bones in neonatal rats.

Objective 2: To investigate the effects of IH on mandibular condylar and tibial

cartilage growth in neonatal rats.

Objective 3: To investigate the effects of IH on chondrogenesis marker expression in

rats at early stage of growth.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

1.4 Benefits of this study ALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

This study will help us to provide a clearer picture of the response of mandibular condylar cartilage and tibial cartilage to IH in a neonatal in vivo model, which will fill up the gap in our knowledge about effects of this condition on different types of cartilage, which is important in craniofacial growth and growth of the tibia during early growing stage.

1.5 Keywords

Cartilaginous growth, chondrocyte hypertrophy, fibrocartilage, hyaline cartilage,

intermittent hypoxia



Chulalongkorn University

Chapter II

Literature Review

Intermittent Hypoxia

Intermittent hypoxia (IH) has been an issue of interests in many fields of research in the past decades. It has been widely discussed in both positive and negative consequences of IH in many physiological systems. Currently, there is no universal definition of IH, still it is broadly defined as the condition that oxygen pressure is episodically decreased, lead to oxygen deficiency within the blood for a short period of time, combined with the period of normal oxygen level (28-30). These phenomena resulted in disturbances in normal physiological activities.

According to previous study, IH has been reported to be the most frequent form of hypoxia occurring in the developing mammal. Since the maturational process of many systems in the body, such as neural, mechanical, pulmonary and sleep-state dependent factors, prefer the existence of IH during early postnatal life (31).

Episodes of IH can be found in neonatal and early infancy, because of immature respiratory control. The incidence is increased in preterm and low birth weight infants, especially in the 2-8 weeks of postnatal life (Figure 1) (32, 33).

Respiratory pausing, a cessation of breathing lasting a short period of time, can occurs in neonatal and early infancy, which considered normal in both term and preterm infants (34-36). The length of the pause in breathing air flow >15 s or >20 s

defined as apnea, and the clinically significant will be increased if associated with changes in perfusion, heart rate or oxygen desaturation (37-40). The pause of breathing > 20s or shorter duration but accompanied by bradycardia; heart rate <2/3 of baseline for \geq 4 s, and/or oxygen desaturation; SpO2 <80% for \geq 4 s, in an infant younger than 1 year 37 weeks' gestational age will be defined as apnea of prematurity (AOP) (Figure2) (41, 42). AOP is the developmental disorder that occurs in preterm infants, and apnea can be resolved by term gestation, except those who were born less than 28 weeks gestation (43-45). Although the short respiratory pauses or apnea with adequate oxygen level maintained may be of minimal consequences, they can be problematic if accompanied by intermittent hypoxemia (Figure3).



Figure 1. Number of desaturation episodes in preterm infants. There were very few desaturation episodes during the first week, followed by a progressive increase over the 2-4 weeks, and then a decrease in weeks 6–8 in preterm infants over the first 8 weeks of life (32).



Figure 2. Subtypes of apnea of prematurity.

Subtypes of apnea of prematurity, based on the pathophysiologic mechanisms. Central apnea; complete cessation of both chest movement and airflow. Obstructive apnea; an apnea with or without respiratory effort but without airflow. Mixed apnea; components of both central and obstructive apnea (40).

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure 3. Desaturation in preterm infants secondary to apnea or respiratory pauses. The examples of desaturation in preterm infants secondary to apnea or respiratory pauses. (a) An isolated central apnea. (b) The periodic breathing with repetitive IH. (c) A mixed apnea with obstructed inspiratory efforts (33).

The frequency and severity of AOP has been related to various unfavorable outcomes including abnormal myelin, synaptic connections, and mental development (46, 47).

งหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Chronic intermittent hypoxia (CIH) regularly occurs in preterm infants, associated with high frequency of apnea, as reported by Di Fiore et al in 2010, these group of infants have greater incidence of retinopathy of prematurity and higher risk of neural development disturbances (32, 48, 49).

Exposure to intermittent hypoxia results in multi-system morbidity in adult: cardiorespiratory instability, arterial hypertension, and neurobehavioral impairment (6-8, 50). In contrast to adult, the side-effects of intermittent hypoxia in neonatal and infants often relates to growth and the development.

IH effects

In the past decades, it has been more and more evident that hypoxia, even when short duration, can alter subsequent systemic responses and stimulate or inhibit variety of genes expressions, which lead to persistence of the consequences for much longer time than the hypoxic duration itself. There are many reports about several pathophysiologic problems, which supposed to be consequences of IH exposure in neonatal and early infancy (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Consequence of intermittent hypoxia in early life Various of pathophysiologic problems that might be a consequence of intermittent hypoxia in early life (48).

1. Retinopathy of prematurity (ROP)

Retinopathy of the prematurity (ROP) is a disorder that can produced significant loss of vision resulted from perturbations in retinal vascular development. A swing in oxygen levels is one of the important factors in ROP development. The first phase of ROP begin with a delayed retinal vascular growth from hyperoxia, which suppressed vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), resulting in normal vascularlization inhibition. The second phase involves with the raising of the hypoxiainduced VEGF level, bring about the vascular overproliferation, which later turns into a pathological retinal neovascularization. A previous cohort study in neonates of 24-28 weeks' gestation showed the association between IH episodes and the development of severe ROP; which required laser treatment. They demonstrated that an increased frequency of IH episodes during the first 8 weeks of life is associated with ROP severity (Figure 5) (32).



Figure 5. Intermittent hypoxemic events in the preterm infants. The model-based of approximated intermittent hypoxemic events in the preterm infants. The overall incidence was higher in the LaserROP infants (32).

The ROP severity is involved with not only the higher incidence of IH, but also the pattern of IH episodes. The studies in rodent model and in human infants showed that severe ROP was associated with higher incidence of IH events of longer, more variable, and less predictable duration (51, 52).

2. Respiratory instability: sleep-disordered breathing

It has become evident that early postnatal exposure to oxygen perturbations in neonates resulted in marked changes in the respiratory functions. As discussed in previous animal studies, postnatal hyperoxic/hypoxemic exposure diminished peripheral chemoreceptors functions, and hypoxic ventilatory responses. Such an effects in early life contribute to lifelong alteration in respiratory control (53-56). Intermittent hypoxia is more likely to occur postnatally, especially in preterms infants. There are two studies published that these groups of infants are at greater risk for sleep disordered breathing in childhood and young children (57, 58). However, the hidden mechanisms of these relationship are still unidentified. There is suggestion from prior study, which reported that neonates exposed to xanthines had an increased risk of sleep-disordered breathing (SDB), that AOP and its resultant IH that occurred in early life could be a factor of risk in developing perturbation and SDB later on (59). Another study in neonatal rat pups demonstrated that sustained exposure to IH lead to increased sensory activity of the carotid body; a primary chemoreceptors for arterial blood oxygen detection, activation (60). Such an effect

has been reported in human preterm infants' studies that a raise in carotid body activation in response to intermittent hypoxia led to unstable breathing (61, 62). Reactive oxygen species have been suggested to be involved with the aforementioned situation (48).

3. Cardiovascular consequences

Since IH episodes are common among preterm infants, exposure to IH at early postnatal age may lead to alterations in cardiovascular control, as for example the impaired in baroreflex responses (63). Reeves et al. 2006 reported CIH exposure of rat pups in first 30 days postnatal resulted in structural changes within brainstem nuclei that control cardio-respiratory functions (64). More recent studies found that exposure to IH, of different patterns, during the early postnatal life lead to sustained decreased in heart rate, higher systolic blood pressure, increased in heart weight, and increased size of cardiomyocytes (5, 63, 65). It has been suggested that repetitive IH exposure during developmental period contributed to prolonged changes in cardiovascular dysfunction later in the adulthood life (65, 66). There are epidemiological studies that have identified the strong relationship between prematurity and greater risk for developing cardiovascular problems in adulthood. They suggested that events occurred during early postnatal life, such as hypoxic episodes, may lead to alteration in normal development of cardiovascular systems and such effects may prolonged into later life (67-70).

4. Neurodevelopmental outcome

IH in early infancy may result in inflammation, brain injury, which later exhibits as cognitive and executive function deficits. In previous studies, neonatal exposed to IH exhibited increased in apoptosis in the cortex and hippocampus, impaired hippocampal neural function and reduced dopamic signaling and myelination in the corpus callosum and white matter (71-75). Clinical manifestations of neonatal IH, which had been detected in animal model, are long-term behavioral alterations, memory and learning impairments, and locomotor hyperactivity (76, 77). However, the degree of IH in those studies are not the same, depended on the protocol used in each laboratory. There are two studies stated the degree of IH applied in their model. The study by Darnall et al 2017 reported that neonatal rat exposed to mild IH, as might usually found in preterm infants, displayed decreased in white matter integrity, changes in metabolic and proinflammatory responses (78). In contrast with other studies, Bouslama et al 2015 reported that moderate IH offers neuroprotection against brain lesions and cognitive dysfunctions, and they suggested that AOP may have favorable effects in some preterm infants (79).

5. Growth

In spite of the fact that exposure to chromic IH appears to have less impact on physical growth in animals and humans compare to that of chronic constant hypoxia, some researchers reported severe IH can also contribute to negative influences on growth and development. In 2008, Farahani et al have shown that neonatal exposure to hypoxia in mice resulted in slower weight gain and developmental delay in many organs (5). Similarly, Pozo et al in 2012 demonstrated that rat pups exposed to repetitive IH had a significant effect on body weight and contribute to growth restriction. However, the acceleration of growth can catch-up to normoxic controls by 4 weeks of age (65). The disturbance of hypoxia with growth and development depends on the severity and duration of hypoxia and age at the time of exposure (5). Despite several reports on neonatal IH and body growth, none of them have mentioned the growth in craniofacial area.

Condylar and Tibial Cartilage growth

During postnatal growth period, it is classically said that mandibular condylar cartilage act as an important mandibular growth site responsible for an increasing mandibular height, length and width, which is related to anteriorly and inferiorly displacement of the mandible (80). While another explanation introduces that downward growth of the mandible is resulted from surrounding tissues development (81, 82). There are studies attempted to clarify the role of mandibular cartilage on mandibular growth and found out that even though condylar cartilage did not responsible for the entire growth of the mandible, it is still necessary as a part in normal mandibular growth, especially in increasing ramus height (83-87).

Endochondral ossification and intramembranous ossification are the processes of bone growth responsible for normal development of the mandible (88-90). It has been reported that disturbance in endochondral ossification at mandibular condylar cartilage resulted in reduction of ramus height, without changing anteroposterior mandibular length (87). Thus, any interruption in endochondral ossification processes may affect the ramus vertical growth.

Since bones are formed through two processes and most of the skeleton, including long bones and mandibular condyle, forms by endochondral ossification; a process which required a cartilage intermediate, the cartilage formation and factors involved in its growing process is also considered to be the important in the body growth. Of the three types of cartilage found in the human body, hyaline cartilage and fibrocartilage are the most frequently occurring types of cartilage. These two types of cartilage differ in cellular organization and composition, extracellular matrix components and also in their embryonic origin (20). The main extracellular components of hyaline cartilage are type II collagen and proteoglycans. Fibrocartilage, in contrast, contains type I and type II collagen together with proteoglycans, with type I collagen being the predominant matrix constituent (91). Previous ex vivo studies compared these two types of cartilage and a higher content of glycosaminoglycans (GAG) was found in hyaline cartilage compared to fibrocartilage (92, 93). So, next to differences in expression of different types of collagen, other

extracellular matrix components appear to differ also. These differences might be related to the specific functional demands laid upon the different cartilage types.

Not only the extracellular matrix but also the cells within the two types of cartilage are different. Several studies evaluated the responses of fibrocartilage and hyaline cartilage to certain growth factors, such as basic fibroblast growth factors (bFGFs), insulin-like growth factor-l (IGF-1) and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) (19, 94). These authors found that the factors stimulated a higher cell proliferation in fibrocartilage than in hyaline cartilage. They also found that fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) had a stronger effect on fibrocartilage cell metabolism compared to hyaline cartilage. These findings indicate differences in sensitivity of different populations of chondrocytes to growth factors may related to a cell type specific sensitivity of these cells.

Cartilage that covers the mandibular condyle is considered as fibrocartilage while the cartilage in tibial growth plate is hyaline cartilage. The differences as well as the similarities of these two cartilages make it of interest to investigate the responses of these two types of cartilage to IH.

Mandibular condylar cartilage differs from tibial growth plate cartilage primarily in its superficial layers: perichondrium (fibrous layer), in which the prechondroblastic (chondroprogenitor / mesenchymal) cells secretes the type I collagen rather than type II collagen secreted by in active chondrocytes in resting zone of the growth plate (Figure 6) (95-98). These prechondroblastic cells in the perichondrium later proliferate and mature into chondrocytes by the regulation of SRY-Box Transcription Factor 9 (Sox9). Unlike in the growth plate, the cells that proliferate are chondrocytes (96). Sox9 has been found to be an important regulator in cartilage formation due to its function in multi-step of the chondrogenesis pathway and regulating type II collagen expression in chondrocytes (Figure 7) (99, 100).

Chondrocytes start producing type II collagen, undergo hypertrophy and express type X collagen, which later leads to onset of endochondral ossification (93, 101). This process is similar to the hypertrophic chondrocytes in the growth plate cartilage (Figure 8).



Figure 6. The schematic of cellular differentiation in mandibular condyle. The pattern of cellular differentiation, blood vessel invasion, and bone formation in mandibular condyle (100).



Figure 7. SOX9's roles in skeletal progenitors, chondrocytes and osteoblasts. SOX9 has been shown to be involved and expressed in chondrogenesis, from lineage specification until hypertrophic differentiation. The repression of SOX9 is required for osteoblast differentiation from terminal chondrocytes later on (99).



Figure 8. Schematic of endochondral bone formation.

Endochondral bone formation of a mouse tibia at the late stage of fetal development (97).

Type X collagen formation is proposed to facilitate the bone replacement, due to its unique short chain characteristic of this collagen which make it easy to resorb when compared to type II collagen (100, 102). Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) is another crucial non-collagenous protein found in cartilage extracellular matrix (103). COMP is localized not only in the cartilage, but also in the ligament, tendon and meniscus (104, 105). The important roles of COMP are binding extracellular matrix to collagens and chondrocytes, storage and delivery hydrophobic hormones, a calcium-binding protein and a maker of cartilage turn over in joint disease (106-108). The mutations in COMP associated with multiple epiphyseal dysplasia and pseudochondroplasia (109-112). COMP and collagen X expression are highly expressed by hypertrophic chondrocytes (21, 22, 111) and collagen type X expression appears to be related to the level of endochondral ossification (23).

Apart from the cartilage growth, bone remodeling process are also an important part in endochondral ossification. Osteoprotegerin (OPG) and the receptor activator of nuclear factor-kB ligand (RANKL) are the genes known to be related with osteoclasts function and bone resorption, which also help maintaining normal bone mass (113). OPG suppressed osteoclasts survival while RANKL plays essential role in osteoclast differentiation and bone resorption (114, 115). The previous studies showed that animals overexpressing OPG exhibited increased bone density and a notable decreased in osteoclast number (116). Another study in mice lack of OPG also found osteopenia resulting from higher osteoclast activity (117). On the other hand, studies in RANK and RANKL deficient mice revealed that these mice developed osteopetrosis in consequence of absence of osteoclasts (118-120).

Hypoxic condition effects on cartilage and bone development

During past decades, it has become widely acknowledged that oxygen is one of the important regulatory signals that controls the expression of specific genes involved in various tissues development, including cartilage and bone. Reduced oxygen availability is crucial in normal development, via activation of transcriptional responses (121). All embryonic tissues encounter a low oxygen tension environment, i.e., hypoxia, during developmental process, when the circulatory system was not formed yet. The vascularization of the placenta and embryo is activated by this physiological hypoxia (122). The transcriptional factors involved in adaptive response of cells to hypoxia are the Hypoxia Inducible Transcription Factors (HIFs), whose expression and function are mostly post-translationally controlled by hydroxylation reactions (123). HIF-1 is a heterodimer of two proteins, HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ and HIF-1 $\mathbf{\beta}$. The stability of HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ protein is hypoxia-sensitive. Under normal oxygen environment, HIF-1 α can only sustained in the cytoplasm for a very short period of time (<5 min). Since it contains specific hydroxylated proline that are detected by the Von Hippel-Lindau protein (pVHL-containing E3 ubiquitin ligase complex), it can be easily targeted and brought to degradation via the proteasome (124, 125). On the other way round, when oxygen drops below 5%, hydroxylation is reduced and HIF-1 α subunit is free to migrate into the nucleus, binds with the β -subunit, then act as a transcription factor on the target genes. The β subunit is specifically identified and bind to the 5'-RCGTG-3' sequence of the hypoxia responsible element (HRE) in DNA of the target genes (Figure 9) (124). More than 10 target genes have found to be regulated by HIF, such as erythropoietin, glucose transporter protein and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Figure 10) (126-128).



Figure 9. The schematic of HIFs regulation and signaling. In low oxygen environment prolylhydroxylases (PHDs) is activated, lead to inhibition of HIF-1 α hydroxylation. Conversely, the non-hydroxylated HIF-1 α can dimerize with its $\boldsymbol{6}$ subunit and migrates into the nucleus in normal oxygen environment (129).



Figure 10. HIF downstream genes. HIF alpha-beta dimers bind to HRE in the region of HIF target genes, allowing the transcription of the HIF downstream genes; which impact osteogenesis and chondrogenesis (130).

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Though the HIF-2 α is similar to HIF-1 α as it is also regulated by oxygen level and shared some common targets, their biological function and tissue localization are not the same (131-133). It has been reported that mice lacking HIF-2 α could still survived postnatally, while those lacking HIF-1 α could not (134). In contrast, the biological role of HIF-3 α is not well understood, it has been suggested that it could act as a dominant negative function (135).

Other isoforms of HIF- $\mathbf{\Omega}$ have been recently discovered: HIF-2 $\mathbf{\Omega}$ and HIF-3 $\mathbf{\Omega}$.

HIF can be regulated not only by oxygen level, but also by some metal ions; Mg2+, Ni2+, Co2+ and Cu2+, physical factors; ultrasonic waves, some cytokines; interleukin-1 (IL1), tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF), multiple mechanisms; transcription, translation, nuclear transport, and downstream genes feedback loops, and various signaling pathway; phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI-3K/AKT), P38, extracellular signal-regulating kinase (ERK) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways (130).

Hypoxia plays an important role in controlling endochondral bone development by activating genes that regulate the process. The fetal growth plate chondrocytes are highly proliferative; produce collagen type II, and line up to form a columnar layer. They later undergo terminal maturation, differentiate into hypertrophic chondrocytes; produce collagen type X, and mineralize their surrounding matrix before being replaced by bone. This process requires blood vessels invasion. As the growth plate is avascular for most of its length, it is apparently contained hypoxic regions (Figure 11).



Figure 11. The fetal growth plate.

The more hypoxic areas are found near the joint space, while the hypertrophic chondrocytes at the border with the primary spongiosa are not hypoxic (136).

There were numerous studies conducted to clarify the role of hypoxia and its subsequent genetic control that modulate endochondral bone formation. HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ is essential for chondrogenesis and chondrocyte's ability to survive and differentiate in the hypoxic environment. Numerous downstream mediators of HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ are essential for chondrocyte survival: Phophoglycerate kinase (PGK-1; enzyme for anaerobic glycolysis), VEGF-A (responsible for angiogenesis) (137-139). HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ also regulates chondrocyte proliferation and differentiation. Previous studies addressed that HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ deficiency led to strikingly increase in chondrocyte proliferation rate, while mice lacking VHL (which results in HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ and HIF-2 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ overexpression) exhibit decreased
proliferation rate but increased matrix deposition (137, 138). HIFs not only take part in chondrocytes differentiation but also in its function. Hypoxia was shown to increase type Il collagen, Aggrecan and Sox9 (140). Lafont et al. conducted the selective depletion of HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α in chondrocytes placed in hypoxia, and found that HIF-2**Q**, not HIF-1**Q**, is critical for Sox9 stimulation; which later bring about collagen ll expression (141). The later study from the same researcher, analyzed the 101 chondrocyte-specific and hypoxia responsive genes response of chondrocytes to hypoxia: comparing in 20% with 1% oxygen. They revealed that all the chondrocytes' markers, eq. Sox9, collagen ll and aggrecan, are positively regulated by hypoxia. Thus, low oxygen level is assumed to have positive effect on chondrocytes (142). As hypertrophic chondrocytes undergo apoptosis, blood vessels start invasion, and the bone formation begins. Osteogenesis and angiogenesis are crucial in bone formation, so the genetic program modulated by hypoxia involved with these two processes considered the key factor in this mechanism. HIFs function is closely related to osteogenesis due to its activation of angiogenic factor: VEGF. Activation of VEGF increases blood and oxygen supply to osteoblasts. The expression of VEGF has been reported to be mostly associated with HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ and HIF-2 $\mathbf{\alpha}$, which is activated under hypoxic condition (126, 143). Even though osteoblasts and osoteocytes have an adaptation ability in hypoxic condition, hypoxia still has adverse effects on osteogenesis. Osteoblasts exposed to hypoxic environment resulted in inhibition of the formation of mineralized nodules, reduction of alkaline phosphatase (ALP) and

osteocalcin (OCN) mRNA level, and low quality of collagen production; resulted in weakened the bone properties (144, 145). Hypoxia also led to down-regulation of Runx-2, which later resulted in collagen type l and OCN suppression (146). Conversely, hypoxia and its subsequence induction of HIF: hepatic growth factor (HGF), macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF), osteopontic (OPN), Bcl-2, BNIP3, Glut-1, VEGF, stimulate osteoclast function (147, 148).

Previous related studies

Previous studies showed that hypoxic conditions in children resulted in underdevelopment of the posterior facial height (10, 149). (Figure 12) In line with these findings are animal studies that confirm an effect of IH on craniofacial growth at prepubertal age. These effects include the reduction of nasal cavity volume, an increased bone density in the mandible, and a decreased size of mandibular bones (11-13). There is, however, no study which addresses the question whether during the early postnatal growth period condylar and tibial cartilage are affected similarly under IH conditions. The present study will be undertaken to investigate this in detail.



Figure 12. Tracing of a child with large adenoids before and after adenotonsillectomy. (Left) A child with large adenoids showed high anterior face height and increased mandibular plane angle cephalometrically. (Right) After adenotonsillectomy, the mandibular plane angle has been found to decrease, mandibular growth was increased with intensive growth in the condylar cartilage and in the lower border of the mandible (149).

There are several studies using the IH-exposed rodent model to evaluate the effects of IH in many systems of the body (150-152). However, the oxygen fraction used to induce hypoxic conditions in each study differs among investigators, depended on their specific field of study and perspective. Most of the studies adjusted the severity of hypoxia range from 2%-16% of inspired oxygen, the duration of hypoxic episodes varied from 15-30 s to 12 h, 3 to 2,400 cycles per day and the cumulative IH duration ranges from <1 h to between 2 and 90 days (28, 29, 153).

However, there is no exact protocol of IH settings in terms of:

- 1. The severity of hypoxia. e.g., level of hypoxemia
- 2. The duration of hypoxia exposure within episodes.
- 3. The numbers of hypoxia/reoxygenation episodes per day.
- 4. The total duration of exposure.
- 5. The pattern of presentation.
- 6. Other relevant variables e.g., arterial carbon dioxide level. (28, 154)

Since there is no actual standard for IH settings reported at this time, researchers have designed the rates of hypoxic events according to the sample's age and severity of hypoxia. The previous studies mentioned craniofacial growth in prepubertal rats (11-13), demonstrated the effects of IH exposure: O2 nadir ranging from 4-21%, through the protocol that mimicked severe hypoxia.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Chapter III

Research methodology

Experimental model

The protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Tokyo Medical University, Japan (approval no. H29-0021 and H30-0022). All experiments complied with relevant guidelines and regulations. Eighteen 5-dayold male Sprague-Dawley rats and their mothers were housed in computercontrolled environmental chambers, where a moment-to-moment desired oxygen concentration of the chamber was programmed and adjusted automatically. The oxygen concentration was monitored and readjusted every day to maintain normoxic and hypoxic conditions, by using the O2 analyzer. The level of hypoxia in the chamber was controlled by an automated system, which was reported by Nagai and colleagues. They established the original hypoxic chamber used in this study (155). (Figure 13)

From 7 days of age, pups and mother of the IH group were exposed to IH condition, in the rate of 20 cycles/hr (3 min interval, nadir, 4% Oxygen to peak 21% Oxygen with 0% Carbondioxide), for 8 hour each day during the light-on period (11-13). The pups of the normoxic group (N group) were exposed to room air with their mother in the same computer-controlled environmental chambers throughout the experiment. Animals were fed with normal chow diet and were housed in a controlled environment with 12-hour light-dark cycles (8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m.) in

constant temperature (24 \pm 0.2 °C) with *ad libitum* access to food and water. Body weight of each rat was recorded daily from the start until the end of experimental period. All pups were euthanized at the age of 2 weeks under anesthetized condition by intraperitoneal injection with sodium pentobarbital.



Figure 13. The schematic drawing of the IH generator.

The degree of hypoxia in the chamber was controlled by an automated system in order to induce intermittent hypoxia. Hypoxic gas and compressed air are delivered to the hypoxic chambers at the same time using a timed solenoid valve (155).

Cephalometric Analysis

To evaluate dimensional changes in the mandible, both the lateral and dorsoventral cephalometric radiographs were taken with a soft X-ray machine (SOFTEX CMB-2; SOFTEX co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). A pair of ear rods was used to fix each rat's head firmly into a standard head posture. The radiographs were taken with 5 mA and 30 kVp with 12-s impulses. Cephalometric landmarks are shown in Table 1 and Figures 14a-b. The landmarks consisted of sixteen linear cephalometric measurements (Table 2) as described previously (13, 156). X-rays images of the tibia were also taken for evaluation of growth in the limb region and used for the assessment of the skeletal growth index. All measurements were performed thrice by the same operator and the average values were used for analyses.





Lateral view	Ν	The most anterior point on the nasal bone		
landmarks	E The intersection of the frontal bone and floor of anterior			
		cranial fossa		
	Ро	The most posterior and superior points on the skull		
	Со	The most posterior and superior points on the mandibular		
		condyle		
	So	The intersection of the most anterior tympanic bulla and the		
		superior border of the sphenoid corpus		
	Ва	The most posterior and inferior points on the occipital		
		condyle		
	Go	The most posterior point on the mandibular ramus		
	Gn 🥖	The most inferior point on the ramus that lies on a		
		perpendicular bisector of the line Go-Mn		
	Mn	The most concave portion of the concavity on the inferior		
		border of the mandibular corpus		
	Me	The most inferior and anterior points of the lower border of		
		the mandible		
	Mu	The junction of the alveolar bone and the mesial surface of		
	(m)	the first maxillary molar		
	^M ่อหาล	The junction of the alveolar bone and the mesial surface of		
	Синал	the first mandibular molar		
	LI	The most anterior and superior points on the alveolar bone		
		of the mandibular incisor		
Dorsoventral	Go1, Go2	The points on the angle of the mandible that produce the		
view landmarks		widest width; Go1 is the point on the left and Go2 is the		
		point on the right		
	C1, C2	The points on the cranium that produce the widest cranial		
		width; C1 is the point on the left and C2 is the point on the		
		right		
	P1, P2	The most anterior and medial points within the temporal		
		fossae that produce the narrowest palatal width; P1 is the		
		point on the left and P2 is the point on the right		

Table 1 Definitions of landmarks in radiographic images

Neurocranium	Po-N	Total skull length
	Po-E	Cranial vault length
	Ba-E	Total cranial base length
	So-E	Anterior cranial base length
	Ba-So	Posterior cranial base length
	Po-Ba	Posterior neurocranium height
Viscerocranium	E-N	Nasal length
	E-Mu	Viscerocranium height
Mandible	Co-Ll	Total mandibular length
	Co-Me	Length from condylar head to Me
	Co-Gn	Ramus height
	Go-Mn	Posterior corpus length
	Mi-Ll	Anterior corpus length
Transverse	Go1-Go2	Bigonial width
measurements	C1-C2	Maximum cranial width



Three-dimensional microcomputed tomography

Changes in mineralized cartilage and subchondral bone microstructure were investigated by using microcomputed tomography (micro-CT) with a desktop X-ray micro-CT system (Inspexio, Shimadzu, Japan). The output of 75 kV and 140 mA was used (157). The sample was scanned with a 20 μ m scanning resolution (13, 158). An area of 1.0x1.0x0.2 mm located in the cancellous bone, distant by a 1.0 mm from the condylar epiphyseal cartilage, was chosen as the region of interest (ROI) (Figures 14c-d). An area with the same size located in the diaphysis, 50 μ m inferior to the growth plate of the tibial cartilage was used for bone density analysis (159). (Figure 14e) The following four values were calculated: bone volume/trabeculae volume (BV/TV, %), bone mineral density (BMD, mg/cm²), bone mineral content (BMC, mg) and bone mineral content/trabeculae volume (BMC/TV, mg/cm³). The results were analyzed by using a software package (TRI/3D-BON, Ratoc, Tokyo, Japan).

Histomorphometric analysis

Fixation process

The TMJ and tibia with the surrounding tissues were dissected from the right side of the animal and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24 hour, decalcified with 4.13% EDTA (pH 7.4) for 6 weeks, at 4°C. The solution were changed every 3 days. Following fixation, the specimens were placed in suitable labelled cassettes for the dehydration process.

Dehydration and clearing process.

Since melted paraffin wax is hydrophobic, the removal of water in a specimen is necessary before it can be infiltrated with wax. The specimens were immersed in a series of increasing concentration ethanol, 70%, 90% and 100% in the following sequences;

- 1. 70% ethanol 60 min
- 2. 90% ethanol 45 min
- 3. 100% ethanol 45 min
- 4. 100% ethanol 45 min
- 5. 100% ethanol 60 min

After dehydration, specimens were immersed in xylene for 60 min, 3 cycles, to remove alcohol before infiltrated with paraffin wax.

Wax infiltration

After xylene infiltration, the specimen cassettes were transferred to an embedding station. The orientation of the specimens in the mold should be done carefully, as this will determine the plane of section when they are cut by the microtome. When the settings was ready, the molds were infiltrated with molted paraffin wax, all of this process had to be done on the hotplates. When the specimens were fully covered with the paraffin wax, the whole molds were transferred to the cold plate to finally set.

Sectioning

The tissue blocks containing the mandibular condyle were cut at a 5- μ m thickness: parallel to the sagittal plane of the mandibular condyle. The tibiae were cut in a longitudinal direction (5 μ m in thickness). Sections were stained with toluidine blue for cartilage thickness measurements.

Deparaffinized and rehydrated sections

The sections with 5- μ m thickness were put in the oven at 50 °C for 10 minutes. After that they were deparaffinized and rehydrated with xylene and ethanol in the following sequences;

- 1. Xylene 5 min
- 2. Xylene
- 3. 100% Ethanol 3 min
- 4. 100% Ethanol 3 min and a min

5 min

- 5. 90% Ethanol 3 min LONGKORN UNIVERSITY
- 6. 80% Ethanol 3 min
- 7. Milli-Q water

Toluidine blue staining

Prepare the Toluidine blue working solutions

- 1. Acetate buffer: 0.2 M
- 2. 0.04% Toluidine blue stain

Mix the solutions together until the pH of Toluidine blue working solution was around 3.7.

Staining procedure

- 1. Put the sections in 0.04% Toluidine blue solution 5-10 min
- 2. Rinse gently in tap water 1 min
- 3. Warm air dry 10 min
- 4. Mount with mounting media and coverslip

Image analysis and quantification

The cartilage layer of the mandibular condyle was divided into 4 layers: fibrous layer, proliferative cell layer, maturative cell layer and hypertrophic cell layer, based on cell shape, size and the intensity of staining (160). (Figure 15a) The thickness measurement of the condylar cartilage was performed at three equal parts on the central sagittal sections of the mandibular condylar head: anterior, middle and posterior parts (Figure 15b). Three other lines were drawn through the middle of each part, starting from the superior border of the fibrous layer to the inferior border of the hypertrophic cells layer (161). (Figure 15b) Then, the thickness of each layer and the total cartilage thickness were measured along the middle line of the three portions, by one observer. The average value of six sections per animal was used as a representative value for each animal. For measurements of the tibial growth plate cartilage, 12 parallel lines, apart by 225-µm from each other, were drawn through the cartilage (162). (Figure 15c). Twelve thickness measurements obtained from these lines were averaged as representing a value for each section. Six sections from each tibia were measured, and the averaged value was used as a representative value. The following parameters were measured: total height of the growth plate (Gpc.Th), resting zone thickness (RZ.Th), proliferative zone thickness (PZ.Th) and hypertrophic zone thickness (HpZ.Th), by methods described in a previous study (163). (Figure 15d) The measurement and analysis process were done using the software NIS-Elements Analysis D 3.2 (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan).

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure 15. Histological images of mandibular condylar cartilage and tibial growth plate. The mandibular condylar cartilage and tibial growth plate from a 2-week-old rat following toluidine blue staining. (a) Sagittal section of mandibular condylar cartilage. Black dashed lines show the divided region of condyle, including the fibrous layer (F), proliferating layer (P), maturative layer (M), and hypertrophic layer (H). Red lines in (b) show the center of each part used to measure thickness of mandibular cartilage. (c) Longitudinal section of tibial cartilage, including the resting zone (RZ.Th), proliferative zone (PZ.Th), hypertrophic zone (HpZ.Th), and height of growth plate (Gpc.Th). (d) Twelve parallel lines drawn through tibial cartilage to permit measurements. Scale bar = 100 μ m.

qRT-PCR

Expression of the genes related to chondrogenesis was analyzed by assessing mRNA expression of a number of genes (see below). Isolation of total RNA from the mandibular condyle and tibia tissues from the left side of the animal was done by using the PureLink[™] FFPE Total RNA Isolation Kit (Invitrogen, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

First-stranded complementary DNA was synthesized using PrimeScript[™] RT reagent Kit (Takara Bio, Shiga, Japan) according to the product's instructions. Quantitative real time PCR assays were performed in triplicate for each sample, using Premix Ex Taq[™] (Takara Bio, Shiga, Japan) in StepOnePlus[™] Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Real-time PCR analyses were conducted with TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (Applied Biosystems). All TaqMan probe/primer sets used for real-time PCR were commercially obtained from Applied Biosystems and they were specific for rat TGF- β mRNA (Tgfb1; Rn00572010 m1), Sox9 mRNA (Sox9; Rn01751070 m1), rat type II collagen mRNA (Col2a1; Rn01637087 m1), rat type X collagen mRNA (Col10a1; Rn01408030 m1), rat COMP mRNA (Comp; Rn00563255 m1), rat Runx2 mRNA (Runx2; Rn01512298 m1), and rat hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase 1 (Hprt-1) mRNA (Hprt1; Rn01527840 m1). Hprt1 expression was used as an internal control. The thermocycling conditions used were 95°C for 20 s, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 1 s and 60°C for 20 s. Gene

expression levels were calculated according to the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method of relative quantification.

Statistical analyses

All data were depicted as the mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical calculations were performed by using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 24 (Chicago, IL, USA). We first examined the normality and the variance of the data using F-tests. Then, the comparison of animals' weight, tibia length, craniofacial dimension, bone microstructure measurements, cartilage thickness and real-time PCR results between the IH and N groups were evaluated by the independent samples t-tests. Statistical significance was accepted at a p-level less than 0.05.

Chapter IV

Results

Part I: Systemic growth of neonatal rats subjected to IH

The body weight and tibia length were recorded, as indicators for systemic growth. One week after IH exposure, the body weight of the IH group was significantly lower than the N group (Table 3), but the tibial length was not different between two groups (Table 4). These findings are consistent with the findings in the previous reports (11, 12).

Day	N Group (n = 9)		IH Grou	P-value	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
0	14.09	0.63	13.33	1.45	0.201
7	30.02	4.86	20.5	2.82	*

Table 3. Changes in body weight (g)

Chulalongkorn University

Table 4. Comparison of tibial length (mm) between the N and IH groups at day 7

N Group (n = 9)		IH Group	<i>P</i> -value	
Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
8.86	0.44	8.48	0.7	0.175

Part II: Differential growth of craniofacial bones under IH condition

Of the 16 linear measurements obtained from the cephalometric images, all but posterior corpus length (Go-Mn) and palatal width (P1-P2), were significantly lower in the IH group (Figure 16a-d). Given that tibial length was not affected by IH, the ratio of each parameter to tibial length was evaluated. The ratios of the mandibular parameters, including two parameters of mandibular length (Co-Ll and Co-Me), ramus height (Co-Gn), and anterior corpus length (Mi-Ll), to the tibial length were significantly decreased with IH, while the ratios of the neurocranium and viscerocranium parameters to the tibia length were not affected by IH (Figure 16e). Data suggest that IH markedly reduces the mandibular size in the neonatal animals (Figure 16f).

Part III: Effect of IH on bone mineralization in the mandibular condyle and tibial cartilage in neonatal rats

Bone mineralization was evaluated using three-dimensional micro-computed tomography (3D μ CT) analysis. The 3D micro-CT scans show, in contrast to the N group, in the mandibular condyle of the IH group a highly dense cancellous bone (Figure 17b). This effect proved to be statistically significant. Quantification of bone microstructural parameters demonstrated a higher BMD and BMC/TV of mandibular condyle cancellous bone of the IH group. No such effect was noted in tibial bone. Micro-CT analysis of the tibial cancellous bone region did not show any difference

between the N and IH groups. These results confirmed that IH significantly increased cancellous bone density in the mandible, and increased both areal bone mineral density (BMD) and bone mineral content/volumetric bone mineral density (BMC/TV) in the cancellous bone of the mandibular condyle, but not in the tibia (Figure 17 c, d).

Part IV: Histological changes in the cartilaginous layers of the mandibular condyle and tibial epiphysis

Mandibular condyle

The thicknesses of the total cartilaginous layers in the anterior, middle, and posterior areas of the condylar cartilage dramatically decreased during IH (Fig. 18a). After 1 week, the thickness of the maturative layer was largest in the middle of the N group of rats. In contrast, IH significantly reduced the maturative layer in all areas (Fig. 18bd). IH substantially reduced the hypertrophic layer in the anterior area. However, the hypertrophic layers in the middle and posterior areas were comparable in the N and IH groups (Fig. 18b-d).

The relative thickness of each layer was then calculated to determine whether IH exposure influenced chondrocyte maturation in each layer. After 1 week of IH exposure, the relative thickness of the maturative layer was significantly reduced in the middle and posterior areas, but increased in the anterior area (Fig. 18e-g). In contrast, IH markedly decreased the hypertrophic layer in the anterior area but significantly increased the maturative layer relative to the total cartilage (Fig. 18e). IH significantly reduced the maturative layer in the middle and posterior areas, but increased the hypertrophic layer relative to the total cartilage (Fig. 18f-g).

Tibial epiphysis

IH reduced the thicknesses of all cartilage layers, including the growth plate in the proximal tibial epiphysis (Gpc.Th) (Fig. 20a,b). However, the relative thickness of each layer did not significantly differ from that of the total cartilage in the tibia (Fig. 20c).

Part V: Differential gene expression is associated with chondrocyte metabolism in the mandibular condyle and tibia during IH

IH modified the chondrocyte phenotype in the mandibular condyle. The genes related to chondrogenesis were examined in the mandibular condylar cartilage and tibial epiphyseal plate. In the former, IH significantly reduced the mRNA levels of the chondrogenesis markers TGF- β (*Tgfb1*) and SOX9 (*Sox9*) (Fig. 21a). It also increased the mRNA level of collagen X (*Col10a1*), a marker of hypertrophic chondrocytes, but not that of collagen II (*Col2a1*) mRNA (a marker of early chondrocyte differentiation in the mandibular condyle). RUNX2 (*Runx2*) mRNA expression levels were comparable between the IH and N rats. In contrast, IH did not affect the expression levels of these genes in the tibial cartilage (Fig. 21b). In neonatal mandibular



H

Ν IH 7

6

Ν IH 8

IH

Ν

15

14

13

12

11

10

Neurocranium measurements



Ν

ΙН

E-N

b



Ν IH

Viscerocranium measurements





Figure 16. Differential craniofacial growth in neonatal rats subjected to IH.

E-Mu

а

34

33

32

22

21

20

19

18

17

IH Ν

NIH

22

21

20

19

18

N IH

28

27

26

Linear craniofacial measurements obtained from lateral and transverse cephalometric images of 2-week-old rats. Neurocranial (a), viscerocranial (b), mandibular (c), and transverse (d) parameters of normoxic (N) and IH group cephalometry. (e) Normalization of mandibular dimensions to tibial length in N and IH rats. Ratios of mandibular length (Co-Ll, Co-Me), ramus height (Co-Gn), and anterior corpus length (Mi-Ll) to tibial length were significantly smaller in the IH group than those in the N group. (f) Representative lateral radiographs of hemi-mandible from neonatal rat after one week of IH exposure. The abbreviations are explained in Fig. 1A and Tables 1A and 1B. Scale bar = 10.0 mm. Data are mean ± SEM for each group. *P < 0.05.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure 17. IH-induced high bone mineral density in mandibular condyle and tibia. IH-induced high bone mineral density in mandibular condylar head in contrast to tibial epiphysis. Representative sagittal and coronal sections of mandibular condyle in the N (a) and IH (b) groups on 3D μ CT imaging. Panel (c) shows comparative quantification of bone microstructural parameters in mandibular condyle cancelous bone between N and IH groups. Panel (d) shows comparisons of cancelous bone of proximal tibial epiphysis in both groups. BMD, bone mineral density; BV/TV, bone volume/trabecular volume; BMC/TV, bone mineral content/trabecular volume. Scale bar = 50 μ m. Data are mean ± SEM for each group. *P < 0.05.



Figure 18. Histological changes in mandibular condylar cartilage of IH rats.

(a) Representative images of toluidine blue-stained sagittal sections of mandibular condyle from the N and IH groups. Thickness of each cartilage layer of anterior (b), middle (c), and posterior (d) parts in mandibular condyle. Ratios of each cartilage layer to total cartilage thickness shown in panels (e)–(g). F, fibrous layer; P, proliferating layer; M, maturative layer; H, hypertrophic layer. Scale bar = 100 μ m. Data are mean ± SEM for each group. *P < 0.05.







Figure 19. Histological changes in tibial cartilage of IH rats. (a) Representative images of toluidine blue-stained longitudinal sections of tibial cartilages from the N and IH groups. (b) Comparison of thicknesses of cartilage layers and growth plates between the N and IH groups. (c) Ratios of cartilage layer thickness to growth plate thickness. RZ.Th, tibial cartilage layers; RZ.Th, resting zone; PZ.Th, proliferative zone; HpZ.Th, hypertrophic zone; Gpc.Th, height of growth plate. Scale bar = 100 μm. Data are mean ± SEM for each group. *P < 0.05.





Chapter VI

Discussion and Conclusion

To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to demonstrate that IH exposure impairs mandibular fibrocartilage growth and induces chondrocyte hypertrophy and endochondral ossification in neonatal rats. In contrast, IH did not induce these effects in the tibial growth plate (hyaline) cartilage. One week of IH exposure repressed the chondrogenesis regulators TGF- β (Tgfb1) and SOX9 (Sox9) in the fibrocartilage of the rodent mandible condyle. The mRNA of collagen X (Col10a1), a hypertrophic chondrocyte marker, was upregulated in the mandibular condyle of neonatal rats. IH induced BMD and BMC/TV in the mandibular condyle, thereby promoting chondrocyte hypertrophy and cartilage calcification. In contrast, IH had no such effects on hyaline cartilage or tibial growth plate bone. Therefore, IH impedes mandible growth in neonatal rats, and mandibular condylar fibrocartilage is sensitive to IH.

Since the rat is the most commonly used model in numerous animal studies, the differences in anatomy, physiology, and development between different species must be considered. Information on the correlation between animal and human age is necessary. However, the method of translating the time points in rats into human developmental stages is not completely clear. Hence, our findings should be interpreted with caution (164).

Lateral and dorsoventral cephalometric radiographs revealed relatively reduced mandibular length (Co-Ll and Co-Me), ramus height (Co-Gn), and bigonial width (Go1-Go2) in neonatal rats exposed to IH. These findings are similar to those reported for the mandibular morphology of pubescent rats subjected to IH (13, 14). However, no reduction in the posterior corpus length (Go-Mn) was observed in neonatal rats exposed to IH. Human and rodent mandibles consist mainly of a horizontal portion (mandibular body) and two perpendicular portions (mandibular ramus). Bone growth in the mandibular body and ramus is complex (15, 16). The posterior corpus (Go-Mn) is the main site of masseter muscular attachment in the rat mandible. Masticatory muscle development strongly influences bone formation (165). Masseter muscle development begins in rats at the weaning stage (3 weeks) when the animals begin biting and chewing solid food (166). We measured the ramus portion, where the mandibular condyle controls skeletal growth (88). In rodents, bone growth is very rapid during the first 3 weeks of life (167). In our 1–2-week neonatal rat models, mandibular underdevelopment was explained by the IHinduced changes in condylar cartilaginous growth, rather than by masticatory muscle development.

The μ CT data revealed dense epiphyseal bone in the mandibular condylar heads of neonatal rats exposed to IH. The IH treatment significantly upregulated BMD and BMC/TV in the cancellous bone region of the mandibular condyle. The bony microstructural changes occurring in adult patients with obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) are controversial (168). Positive BMD responses were reported for the alveolar bone of adolescent rats (12) and the lumbar vertebrae of adult rats (169) exposed to IH. However, a neonatal rat model exposed to IH for 1 week presented with reduced BMD in the mandible (170). Relative to the control, IH exposure did not significantly modify BMD in adult mice (171). To the best of our knowledge, no reports have clarified the roles of hypoxia in cartilage and bone metabolism in IH-exposed neonates.

Rapid calcified matrix removal and marrow cavity formation are essential for growth plate development during endochondral bone biosynthesis (167). Usui and colleagues suggested that hypertrophic chondrocytes regulate osteoclastogenesis in the growth plate and remove calcified matrix (172). This process is mediated by BMP2-induced RANKL expression in normal bone. Here, the markedly increased BMD observed in the mandibular condyles of neonatal rats exposed to IH was not accompanied by any change in the Runx2 mRNA level. The latter has been associated with bone metabolism. The mechanisms underlying the effect of IH on cartilage and bone metabolism in neonatal rats remain to be determined. Hypoxia and osteogenesis are related via activation of the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) pathway, which occurs when the oxygen level is low, leading to marked changes in bone density together with increased vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A) levels (173). A previous in vitro study reported increased expression of HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ and VEGF in condylar chondrocytes under chemically induced hypoxia (174). HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ has protective and anti-apoptotic effects on chondrocytes during skeletogenesis. A study on HIF-1 α gene-knockout mice reported varied skeletal growth through HIF1 α regulated chondrogenesis (138). Hence, we also performed RT-PCR for HIF-1 $\mathbf{\alpha}$ and HIF-2 α gene expression in the mandibular condylar cartilage and tibial cartilage of neonatal rats exposed to IH. No significant difference in HIF-1 α expression was evident in condylar chondrocytes (Figure 21). Consistent with our results, Bianchi and colleagues reported age-related HIF-1 α expression after IH exposure. The neonatal rats did not show any changes in HIF-1 α expression. The authors suggested that this might be due to the adaptation ability of neonates (175). Based on these findings, bone morphogenetic protein 2-induced RANKL and HIFs, and their downstream gene expression should be evaluated in future studies. In addition to qRT-PCR, western blot analysis for protein detection is necessary to confirm these findings. Furthermore, the previous biomarker study demonstrated excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation in rodents exposed to IH (8). Oxidative stress arrests chondrocyte proliferation and degrades cartilage in the growth plate (21). Accordingly, further investigations on the role of ROS in these conditions are warranted. Additionally, small interfering RNA or RNA interference studies may prove useful in revealing the direct causality between chondrocyte metabolism and related gene expression during IH exposure.



Figure 21. Gene expression levels of HIFs and VEGF in mandibular condyle and tibia. Relative gene expression levels of HIF-1**Q** (Hif1a), HIF-2**Q** (Epas1) and VEGF (Vefga) were compared by TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (Hif1a, Rn01472831_m1; Epas1; Rn00576515_m1; VEGF; Rn01511602_m1; Hprt1 (internalcontrol), Rn01527840_m1). Relative mRNA expression levels of Hif1a, Epas1 and Vegfa in the mandibular condylar cartilage (a) and relative mRNA expression levels of Hif1a and Epas1 in the tibial cartilage (b). Data are presented as mean ± SEM for each group. *: p < 0.05.

Regiospecific changes in the maturative and hypertrophic layers were observed in the mandibular epiphyseal cartilage of neonatal rats exposed to IH for 1 week. The qRT-PCR analysis revealed significantly downregulated TGF- β (Tgfb1) and SOX9 (Sox9) and upregulated collagen X (Col10a1) mRNA, which is relevant to our histomorphology appearance, in the mandibular condylar cartilage of the IH group compared to that in the N group. SOX9 inhibits chondrocyte maturation from the proliferation to prehypertrophy stages and the development of an osteoblastic phenotype (27). Sox9-mutant mice present with dwarfism and their proliferative layers are shortened (27, 176). Advanced endochondral ossification occurs in the growth plate cartilage of the long bones because of premature chondrocyte prehypertrophy and matrix mineralization. Sox9 knockdown promotes pathological heart valve calcification via RUNX2-mediated osteogenic target gene activation (177). The regulation of SOX9 expression is complex, although it is known to be involved in various mechanisms at the gene and mRNA levels. Many pathways in chondrogenesis, including the Hedgehog, BMP-2, TGF- β , FGF-2, hypoxia signaling, and inflammatory pathways have been reported to play a role in SOX9 upregulation and downregulation (98, 99, 178). A previous in vitro study reported that Sox9 transduced articular chondrocytes under lowered oxygen conditions (5%) had a better ability to increase cell proliferation and DNA production compared to those in normal conditions (179). Hence, we speculated that the increase in the hypertrophic layer and endochondral ossification in the mandibular condylar cartilage after IH exposure may be related to a specific mechanism in the SOX9 pathway. However, to support hypothesis, further experiments on SOX9 overexpression and condylar this chondrocyte morphology under IH should be conducted in vivo. Moreover, to provide a better demonstration of the changes in condylar chondrocytes after IH exposure, performing the time-line experimental design or dynamic histomorphology to present the chondrocyte growth pattern at different time points might help clarify these findings.

Conclusions: The present study demonstrates that IH contributes to mandibular condyle growth impediments and morphometric deficits in condylar chondrocytes of neonatal rats, and also alters the expression of chondrogenic regulators. These findings provide a better understanding of the condylar cartilage tissue responses to IH.


REFERENCES

1. Katz ES, Mitchell RB, D'Ambrosio CM. Obstructive sleep apnea in infants. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;185(8):805-16.

2. Krous HF, Beckwith JB, Byard RW, Rognum TO, Bajanowski T, Corey T, et al. Sudden infant death syndrome and unclassified sudden infant deaths: a definitional and diagnostic approach. Pediatrics. 2004;114(1):234-8.

3. Flores-Mir C, Korayem M, Heo G, Witmans M, Major MP, Major PW. Craniofacial morphological characteristics in children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Dent Assoc. 2013;144(3):269-77.

 Nieminen P, Tolonen U, Lopponen H. Snoring and obstructive sleep apnea in children: a 6-month follow-up study. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2000;126(4):481-6.

5. Farahani R, Kanaan A, Gavrialov O, Brunnert S, Douglas RM, Morcillo P, et al. Differential effects of chronic intermittent and chronic constant hypoxia on postnatal growth and development. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2008;43(1):20-8.

6. Garvey JF, Taylor CT, McNicholas WT. Cardiovascular disease in obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome: the role of intermittent hypoxia and inflammation. Eur Respir J. 2009;33(5):1195-205.

7. Li RC, Guo SZ, Raccurt M, Moudilou E, Morel G, Brittian KR, et al. Exogenous growth hormone attenuates cognitive deficits induced by intermittent hypoxia in rats. Neuroscience. 2011;196:237-50.

8. Row BW, Liu R, Xu W, Kheirandish L, Gozal D. Intermittent hypoxia is associated with oxidative stress and spatial learning deficits in the rat. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167(11):1548-53.

9. Kiely JL, Deegan PC, McNicholas WT. Resolution of obstructive sleep apnoea with growth in the Robin sequence. Eur Respir J. 1998;12(2):499-501.

10. Zettergren-Wijk L, Forsberg CM, Linder-Aronson S. Changes in dentofacial morphology after adeno-/tonsillectomy in young children with obstructive sleep apnoea--a 5-year follow-up study. Eur J Orthod. 2006;28(4):319-26.

11. Kuma Y, Usumi-Fujita R, Hosomichi J, Oishi S, Maeda H, Nagai H, et al.

Impairment of nasal airway under intermittent hypoxia during growth period in rats. Arch Oral Biol. 2014;59(11):1139-45.

12. Oishi S, Shimizu Y, Hosomichi J, Kuma Y, Maeda H, Nagai H, et al. Intermittent Hypoxia Influences Alveolar Bone Proper Microstructure via Hypoxia-Inducible Factor and VEGF Expression in Periodontal Ligaments of Growing Rats. Front Physiol. 2016;7:416.

13. Oishi S, Shimizu Y, Hosomichi J, Kuma Y, Nagai H, Maeda H, et al. Intermittent hypoxia induces disturbances in craniofacial growth and defects in craniofacial morphology. Arch Oral Biol. 2016;61:115-24.

14. Hosomichi J, Kuma YI, Oishi S, Nagai H, Maeda H, Usumi-Fujita R, et al. Intermittent hypoxia causes mandibular growth retardation and macroglossia in growing rats. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2017;151(2):363-71.

15. Sardi ML, Ramirez Rozzi FV. A cross-sectional study of human craniofacial growth. Ann Hum Biol. 2005;32(3):390-6.

16. Vora SR, Camci ED, Cox TC. Postnatal Ontogeny of the Cranial Base and Craniofacial Skeleton in Male C57BL/6J Mice: A Reference Standard for Quantitative Analysis. Front Physiol. 2015;6:417.

17. Copray JC, Dibbets JM, Kantomaa T. The role of condylar cartilage in the development of the temporomandibular joint. Angle Orthod. 1988;58(4):369-80.

18. Merida Velasco JR, Rodriguez Vazquez JF, De la Cuadra Blanco C, Campos Lopez R, Sanchez M, Merida Velasco JA. Development of the mandibular condylar cartilage in human specimens of 10-15 weeks' gestation. J Anat. 2009;214(1):56-64.

19. Delatte M, Von den Hoff JW, Maltha JC, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Growth stimulation of mandibular condyles and femoral heads of newborn rats by IGF-I. Arch Oral Biol. 2004;49(3):165-75.

20. Delatte ML, Von den Hoff JW, Nottet SJ, De Clerck HJ, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Growth regulation of the rat mandibular condyle and femoral head by transforming growth factor-{beta}1, fibroblast growth factor-2 and insulin-like growth factor-I. Eur J Orthod. 2005;27(1):17-26.

21. Kishimoto H, Akagi M, Zushi S, Teramura T, Onodera Y, Sawamura T, et al.

Induction of hypertrophic chondrocyte-like phenotypes by oxidized LDL in cultured bovine articular chondrocytes through increase in oxidative stress. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2010;18(10):1284-90.

22. Shen G, Darendeliler MA. The adaptive remodeling of condylar cartilage---a transition from chondrogenesis to osteogenesis. J Dent Res. 2005;84(8):691-9.

 Rabie A, Shen G, Hagg E, Kaluarachchi T. Type X collagen-A marker for endochondral ossification of the mandibular condyles. Quintessence Year Book 2000.
 2000.

24. Yamasaki A, Itabashi M, Sakai Y, Ito H, Ishiwari Y, Nagatsuka H, et al. Expression of type I, type II, and type X collagen genes during altered endochondral ossification in the femoral epiphysis of osteosclerotic (oc/oc) mice. Calcif Tissue Int. 2001;68(1):53-60.

25. Furumatsu T, Matsumoto E, Kanazawa T, Fujii M, Lu Z, Kajiki R, et al. Tensile strain increases expression of CCN2 and COL2A1 by activating TGF-beta-Smad2/3 pathway in chondrocytic cells. J Biomech. 2013;46(9):1508-15.

26. Ikeda T, Kawaguchi H, Kamekura S, Ogata N, Mori Y, Nakamura K, et al. Distinct roles of Sox5, Sox6, and Sox9 in different stages of chondrogenic differentiation. J Bone Miner Metab. 2005;23(5):337-40.

27. Dy P, Wang W, Bhattaram P, Wang Q, Wang L, Ballock RT, et al. Sox9 directs hypertrophic maturation and blocks osteoblast differentiation of growth plate chondrocytes. Dev Cell. 2012;22(3):597-609.

28. Navarrete-Opazo A, Mitchell GS. Therapeutic potential of intermittent hypoxia: a matter of dose. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2014;307(10):R1181-97.

29. Neubauer JA. Invited review: Physiological and pathophysiological responses to intermittent hypoxia. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2001;90(4):1593-9.

30. Spicuzza L, Leonardi S, La Rosa M. Pediatric sleep apnea: early onset of the 'syndrome'? Sleep Med Rev. 2009;13(2):111-22.

31. Gozal E, Gozal D. Respiratory plasticity following intermittent hypoxia: developmental interactions. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2001;90(5):1995-9.

32. Di Fiore JM, Bloom JN, Orge F, Schutt A, Schluchter M, Cheruvu VK, et al. A higher incidence of intermittent hypoxemic episodes is associated with severe retinopathy of prematurity. J Pediatr. 2010;157(1):69-73.

33. Martin RJ, Di Fiore JM, Macfarlane PM, Wilson CG. Physiologic basis for intermittent hypoxic episodes in preterm infants. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2012;758:351-8.

34. Curzi-Dascalova L, Christova-Gueorguieva E. Respiratory pauses in normal prematurely born infants. A comparison with full-term newborns. Biol Neonate. 1983;44(6):325-32.

35. Ellingson RJ, Peters JF, Nelson B. Respiratory pauses and apnea during daytime sleep in normal infants during the first year of life: longitudinal observations. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1982;53(1):48-59.

36. Kelly DH, Stellwagen LM, Kaitz E, Shannon DC. Apnea and periodic breathing in normal full-term infants during the first twelve months. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1985;1(4):215-9.

37. Infantile apnea and home monitoring. Natl Inst Health Consens Dev Conf Consens Statement. 1986;6(6):1-10.

38. Martin RJ, Abu-Shaweesh JM, Baird TM. Apnoea of prematurity. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2004;5 Suppl A:S377-82.

39. Powell MB, Ahlers-Schmidt CR, Engel M, Bloom BT. Clinically significant cardiopulmonary events and the effect of definition standardization on apnea of prematurity management. J Perinatol. 2017;37(1):88-90.

40. Stokowski LA. A primer on Apnea of prematurity. Adv Neonatal Care. 2005;5(3):155-70; quiz 71-4.

41. Committee on F, Newborn. American Academy of P. Apnea, sudden infant death syndrome, and home monitoring. Pediatrics. 2003;111(4 Pt 1):914-7.

42. Moriette G, Lescure S, El Ayoubi M, Lopez E. [Apnea of prematurity: what's new?]. Arch Pediatr. 2010;17(2):186-90.

43. Eichenwald EC, Aina A, Stark AR. Apnea frequently persists beyond term gestation in infants delivered at 24 to 28 weeks. Pediatrics. 1997;100(3 Pt 1):354-9.

44. Henderson-Smart DJ. The effect of gestational age on the incidence and duration of recurrent apnoea in newborn babies. Aust Paediatr J. 1981;17(4):273-6.

45. Hofstetter AO, Legnevall L, Herlenius E, Katz-Salamon M. Cardiorespiratory development in extremely preterm infants: vulnerability to infection and persistence of events beyond term-equivalent age. Acta Paediatr. 2008;97(3):285-92.

46. Abu-Shaweesh JM, Martin RJ. Neonatal apnea: what's new? Pediatr Pulmonol. 2008;43(10):937-44.

47. Janvier A, Khairy M, Kokkotis A, Cormier C, Messmer D, Barrington KJ. Apnea is associated with neurodevelopmental impairment in very low birth weight infants. J Perinatol. 2004;24(12):763-8.

48. Martin RJ, Wang K, Koroglu O, Di Fiore J, Kc P. Intermittent hypoxic episodes in preterm infants: do they matter? Neonatology. 2011;100(3):303-10.

49. Pillekamp F, Hermann C, Keller T, von Gontard A, Kribs A, Roth B. Factors influencing apnea and bradycardia of prematurity - implications for neurodevelopment. Neonatology. 2007;91(3):155-61.

50. Poets CF. When do infants need additional inspired oxygen? A review of the current literature. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1998;26(6):424-8.

51. Coleman RJ, Beharry KD, Brock RS, Abad-Santos P, Abad-Santos M, Modanlou HD. Effects of brief, clustered versus dispersed hypoxic episodes on systemic and ocular growth factors in a rat model of oxygen-induced retinopathy. Pediatr Res. 2008;64(1):50-5.

52. Di Fiore JM, Kaffashi F, Loparo K, Sattar A, Schluchter M, Foglyano R, et al. The relationship between patterns of intermittent hypoxia and retinopathy of prematurity in preterm infants. Pediatr Res. 2012;72(6):606-12.

53. Fuller DD, Bavis RW, Vidruk EH, Wang ZY, Olson EB, Jr., Bisgard GE, et al. Life-long impairment of hypoxic phrenic responses in rats following 1 month of developmental hyperoxia. J Physiol. 2002;538(Pt 3):947-55.

54. Julian GS, Oliveira RW, Favaro VM, Oliveira MG, Perry JC, Tufik S, et al. Chronic intermittent hypoxia increases encoding pigment epithelium-derived factor gene expression, although not that of the protein itself, in the temporal cortex of rats. J Bras Pneumol. 2015;41(1):39-47.

55. Okubo S, Mortola JP. Control of ventilation in adult rats hypoxic in the neonatal period. Am J Physiol. 1990;259(4 Pt 2):R836-41.

56. Sladek M, Parker RA, Grogaard JB, Sundell HW. Long-lasting effect of prolonged hypoxemia after birth on the immediate ventilatory response to changes in arterial partial pressure of oxygen in young lambs. Pediatr Res. 1993;34(6):821-8.

57. Paavonen EJ, Strang-Karlsson S, Raikkonen K, Heinonen K, Pesonen AK, Hovi P, et al. Very low birth weight increases risk for sleep-disordered breathing in young adulthood: the Helsinki Study of Very Low Birth Weight Adults. Pediatrics. 2007;120(4):778-84.

58. Rosen CL, Larkin EK, Kirchner HL, Emancipator JL, Bivins SF, Surovec SA, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for sleep-disordered breathing in 8- to 11-year-old children: association with race and prematurity. J Pediatr. 2003;142(4):383-9.

59. Hibbs AM, Johnson NL, Rosen CL, Kirchner HL, Martin R, Storfer-Isser A, et al. Prenatal and neonatal risk factors for sleep disordered breathing in school-aged children born preterm. J Pediatr. 2008;153(2):176-82.

60. Pawar A, Peng YJ, Jacono FJ, Prabhakar NR. Comparative analysis of neonatal and adult rat carotid body responses to chronic intermittent hypoxia. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2008;104(5):1287-94.

61. Cardot V, Chardon K, Tourneux P, Micallef S, Stephan E, Leke A, et al. Ventilatory response to a hyperoxic test is related to the frequency of short apneic episodes in late preterm neonates. Pediatr Res. 2007;62(5):591-6.

62. Nock ML, Difiore JM, Arko MK, Martin RJ. Relationship of the ventilatory response to hypoxia with neonatal apnea in preterm infants. J Pediatr. 2004;144(3):291-5.

63. Chu A, Gozal D, Cortese R, Wang Y. Cardiovascular dysfunction in adult mice following postnatal intermittent hypoxia. Pediatr Res. 2015;77(3):425-33.

64. Reeves SR, Guo SZ, Brittian KR, Row BW, Gozal D. Anatomical changes in selected cardio-respiratory brainstem nuclei following early post-natal chronic intermittent hypoxia. Neurosci Lett. 2006;402(3):233-7.

65. Pozo ME, Cave A, Koroglu OA, Litvin DG, Martin RJ, Di Fiore J, et al. Effect of postnatal intermittent hypoxia on growth and cardiovascular regulation of rat pups. Neonatology. 2012;102(2):107-13.

66. Soukhova-O'Hare GK, Cheng ZJ, Roberts AM, Gozal D. Postnatal intermittent hypoxia alters baroreflex function in adult rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;290(3):H1157-64.

67. Dalziel SR, Parag V, Rodgers A, Harding JE. Cardiovascular risk factors at age 30 following pre-term birth. Int J Epidemiol. 2007;36(4):907-15.

68. de Jong F, Monuteaux MC, van Elburg RM, Gillman MW, Belfort MB. Systematic review and meta-analysis of preterm birth and later systolic blood pressure. Hypertension. 2012;59(2):226-34.

69. Kerkhof GF, Breukhoven PE, Leunissen RW, Willemsen RH, Hokken-Koelega AC.
Does preterm birth influence cardiovascular risk in early adulthood? J Pediatr.
2012;161(3):390-6 e1.

70. Norman M. Preterm birth--an emerging risk factor for adult hypertension? Semin Perinatol. 2010;34(3):183-7.

71. Cai J, Tuong CM, Zhang Y, Shields CB, Guo G, Fu H, et al. Mouse intermittent hypoxia mimicking apnoea of prematurity: effects on myelinogenesis and axonal maturation. J Pathol. 2012;226(3):495-508.

72. Decker MJ, Jones KA, Solomon IG, Keating GL, Rye DB. Reduced extracellular dopamine and increased responsiveness to novelty: neurochemical and behavioral sequelae of intermittent hypoxia. Sleep. 2005;28(2):169-76.

73. Douglas RM, Miyasaka N, Takahashi K, Latuszek-Barrantes A, Haddad GG, Hetherington HP. Chronic intermittent but not constant hypoxia decreases NAA/Cr ratios in neonatal mouse hippocampus and thalamus. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2007;292(3):R1254-9.

74. Gozal D, Daniel JM, Dohanich GP. Behavioral and anatomical correlates of chronic episodic hypoxia during sleep in the rat. J Neurosci. 2001;21(7):2442-50.

75. Juliano C, Sosunov S, Niatsetskaya Z, Isler JA, Utkina-Sosunova I, Jang I, et al. Mild intermittent hypoxemia in neonatal mice causes permanent neurofunctional deficit and white matter hypomyelination. Exp Neurol. 2015;264:33-42.

76. Lima-Ojeda JM, Vogt MA, Richter SH, Dormann C, Schneider M, Gass P, et al. Lack of protracted behavioral abnormalities following intermittent or continuous chronic mild hypoxia in perinatal C57BL/6 mice. Neurosci Lett. 2014;577:77-82.

77. Row BW, Kheirandish L, Neville JJ, Gozal D. Impaired spatial learning and hyperactivity in developing rats exposed to intermittent hypoxia. Pediatr Res. 2002;52(3):449-53.

78. Darnall RA, Chen X, Nemani KV, Sirieix CM, Gimi B, Knoblach S, et al. Early postnatal exposure to intermittent hypoxia in rodents is proinflammatory, impairs white

matter integrity, and alters brain metabolism. Pediatr Res. 2017;82(1):164-72.

79. Bouslama M, Adla-Biassette H, Ramanantsoa N, Bourgeois T, Bollen B, Brissaud O, et al. Protective effects of intermittent hypoxia on brain and memory in a mouse model of apnea of prematurity. Front Physiol. 2015;6:313.

80. Sicher H. The growth of the mandible. Am J Orthod. 1947;33(1):30-5.

81. Moss ML. Functional analysis of human mandibular growth. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 1960;10(6):1149-59.

Moss ML. A theoretical analysis of the functional matrix. Acta Biotheor.1968;18(1):195-202.

83. Berraquero R, Palacios J, Rodriguez JI. The role of the condylar cartilage in mandibular growth. A study in thanatophoric dysplasia. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 1992;102(3):220-6.

84. Koski K. The first Sheldon Friel memorial lecture. The mandibular complex. Trans Eur Orthod Soc. 1974:53-67.

85. Meikle MC. The role of the condyle in the postnatal growth of the mandible. Am J Orthod. 1973;64(1):50-62.

86. Pimenidis MZ, Gianelly AA. The effect of early postnatal condylectomy on the growth of the mandible. Am J Orthod. 1972;62(1):42-7.

87. Tingey TF, Shapiro PA. Selective inhibition of condylar growth in the rabbit mandible using intra-articular papain. Am J Orthod. 1982;81(6):455-64.

88. Mizoguchi I, Toriya N, Nakao Y. Growth of the mandible and biological characteristics of the mandibular condylar cartilage. Japanese Dental Science Review. 2013;49(4):139-50.

89. Obwegeser HL. Masseter Muscle Hypertrophy and Bony Surplus. Mandibular Growth Anomalies: Terminology - Aetiology Diagnosis - Treatment. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2001. p. 425-31.

90. Ramkumar G, Balasubramanian N, Narayan V. CARTILAGE GROWTH DISORDERS: A REVIEW. International Journal of Current Research and Review. 2015;7(12):31.

91. Freemont AJ, Hoyland J. Lineage plasticity and cell biology of fibrocartilage and hyaline cartilage: its significance in cartilage repair and replacement. Eur J Radiol. 2006;57(1):32-6.

92. Delatte M, Von den Hoff JW, van Rheden RE, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Primary and secondary cartilages of the neonatal rat: the femoral head and the mandibular condyle. Eur J Oral Sci. 2004;112(2):156-62.

93. Hamada T, Suda N, Kuroda T. Immunohistochemical localization of fibroblast growth factor receptors in the rat mandibular condylar cartilage and tibial cartilage. J Bone Miner Metab. 1999;17(4):274-82.

94. Delatte M, Von den Hoff JW, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Regulatory effects of FGF-2 on the growth of mandibular condyles and femoral heads from newborn rats. Arch Oral Biol. 2005;50(11):959-69.

95. Hinton RJ. Genes that regulate morphogenesis and growth of the temporomandibular joint: a review. Dev Dyn. 2014;243(7):864-74.

96. Hinton RJ, Carlson DS, editors. Regulation of growth in mandibular condylar cartilage. Seminars in orthodontics; 2005: Elsevier.

97. Provot S, Schipani E. Molecular mechanisms of endochondral bone development. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2005;328(3):658-65.

98. Samsa WE, Zhou X, Zhou G. Signaling pathways regulating cartilage growth plate formation and activity. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2017;62:3-15.

99. Lefebvre V, Angelozzi M, Haseeb A. SOX9 in cartilage development and disease. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2019;61:39-47.

100. Rabie A, Hägg U. Factors regulating mandibular condylar growth. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2002;122(4):401-9.

101. Li QF, Rabie AB. A new approach to control condylar growth by regulating angiogenesis. Arch Oral Biol. 2007;52(11):1009-17.

102. Poole AR, Pidoux I. Immunoelectron microscopic studies of type X collagen in endochondral ossification. J Cell Biol. 1989;109(5):2547-54.

103. Ballock RT, O'Keefe RJ. The biology of the growth plate. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2003;85-A(4):715-26.

104. Murray RC, Smith RK, Henson FM, Goodship A. The distribution of cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) in equine carpal articular cartilage and its variation with exercise and cartilage deterioration. Vet J. 2001;162(2):121-8.

105. Viitanen M, Bird J, Smith R, Tulamo RM, May SA. Biochemical characterisation of

navicular hyaline cartilage, navicular fibrocartilage and the deep digital flexor tendon in horses with navicular disease. Res Vet Sci. 2003;75(2):113-20.

106. Hedbom E, Antonsson P, Hjerpe A, Aeschlimann D, Paulsson M, Rosa-Pimentel E, et al. Cartilage matrix proteins. An acidic oligomeric protein (COMP) detected only in cartilage. J Biol Chem. 1992;267(9):6132-6.

107. Lopez-Franco M, Lopez-Franco O, Murciano-Anton MA, Canamero-Vaquero M, Herrero-Beaumont G, Fernandez-Acenero MJ, et al. An experimental study of COMP (cartilage oligomeric matrix protein) in the rabbit menisci. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2011;131(8):1167-76.

108. Saxne T, Heinegard D. Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein: a novel marker of cartilage turnover detectable in synovial fluid and blood. Br J Rheumatol. 1992;31(9):583-91.

109. Deere M, Sanford T, Francomano CA, Daniels K, Hecht JT. Identification of nine novel mutations in cartilage oligomeric matrix protein in patients with pseudoachondroplasia and multiple epiphyseal dysplasia. Am J Med Genet. 1999;85(5):486-90.

110. Delot E, King LM, Briggs MD, Wilcox WR, Cohn DH. Trinucleotide expansion mutations in the cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) gene. Hum Mol Genet. 1999;8(1):123-8.

111. Di Cesare PE, Fang C, Leslie MP, Tulli H, Perris R, Carlson CS. Expression of cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) by embryonic and adult osteoblasts. J Orthop Res. 2000;18(5):713-20.

112. Maddox BK, Mokashi A, Keene DR, Bachinger HP. A cartilage oligomeric matrix protein mutation associated with pseudoachondroplasia changes the structural and functional properties of the type 3 domain. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(15):11412-7.

113. Kostenuik PJ. Osteoprotegerin and RANKL regulate bone resorption, density, geometry and strength. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2005;5(6):618-25.

114. Lacey DL, Boyle WJ, Simonet WS, Kostenuik PJ, Dougall WC, Sullivan JK, et al. Bench to bedside: elucidation of the OPG-RANK-RANKL pathway and the development of denosumab. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2012;11(5):401-19.

115. Theoleyre S, Wittrant Y, Tat SK, Fortun Y, Redini F, Heymann D. The molecular

triad OPG/RANK/RANKL: involvement in the orchestration of pathophysiological bone remodeling. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2004;15(6):457-75.

Simonet WS, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Kelley M, Chang MS, Luthy R, et al.Osteoprotegerin: a novel secreted protein involved in the regulation of bone density.Cell. 1997;89(2):309-19.

117. Bucay N, Sarosi I, Dunstan CR, Morony S, Tarpley J, Capparelli C, et al. osteoprotegerin-deficient mice develop early onset osteoporosis and arterial calcification. Genes Dev. 1998;12(9):1260-8.

118. Dougall WC, Glaccum M, Charrier K, Rohrbach K, Brasel K, De Smedt T, et al.
RANK is essential for osteoclast and lymph node development. Genes Dev.
1999;13(18):2412-24.

119. Kong YY, Yoshida H, Sarosi I, Tan HL, Timms E, Capparelli C, et al. OPGL is a key regulator of osteoclastogenesis, lymphocyte development and lymph-node organogenesis. Nature. 1999;397(6717):315-23.

120. Li J, Sarosi I, Yan XQ, Morony S, Capparelli C, Tan HL, et al. RANK is the intrinsic hematopoietic cell surface receptor that controls osteoclastogenesis and regulation of bone mass and calcium metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(4):1566-71.

121. Giaccia AJ, Simon MC, Johnson R. The biology of hypoxia: the role of oxygen sensing in development, normal function, and disease. Genes Dev. 2004;18(18):2183-94.

122. Fryer BH, Simon MC. Hypoxia, HIF and the placenta. Cell Cycle. 2006;5(5):495-8.

123. Semenza GL, Wang GL. A nuclear factor induced by hypoxia via de novo protein synthesis binds to the human erythropoietin gene enhancer at a site required for transcriptional activation. Mol Cell Biol. 1992;12(12):5447-54.

124. Ivan M, Kondo K, Yang H, Kim W, Valiando J, Ohh M, et al. HIFalpha targeted for VHL-mediated destruction by proline hydroxylation: implications for O2 sensing. Science. 2001;292(5516):464-8.

125. Semenza GL. HIF-1 and human disease: one highly involved factor. Genes Dev. 2000;14(16):1983-91.

126. Akeno N, Robins J, Zhang M, Czyzyk-Krzeska MF, Clemens TL. Induction of vascular endothelial growth factor by IGF-I in osteoblast-like cells is mediated by the PI3K signaling pathway through the hypoxia-inducible factor-2alpha. Endocrinology.

2002;143(2):420-5.

127. Oki M, Ando K. [Hematopoietic growth factors, cytokines, and bone-marrow microenvironment]. Nihon Rinsho. 2008;66(3):444-52.

128. Zhou JT, Cai ZM, Li NC, Na YQ. [Expression of hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha and glucose transporter protein 1 in renal and bladder cancers and the clinical significance thereof]. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2006;86(28):1970-4.

129. Lafont JE. Lack of oxygen in articular cartilage: consequences for chondrocyte biology. Int J Exp Pathol. 2010;91(2):99-106.

130. Sun X, Wei Y. The role of hypoxia-inducible factor in osteogenesis and chondrogenesis. Cytotherapy. 2009;11(3):261-7.

131. Hu CJ, Wang LY, Chodosh LA, Keith B, Simon MC. Differential roles of hypoxiainducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha) and HIF-2alpha in hypoxic gene regulation. Mol Cell Biol. 2003;23(24):9361-74.

132. Raval RR, Lau KW, Tran MG, Sowter HM, Mandriota SJ, Li JL, et al. Contrasting properties of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) and HIF-2 in von Hippel-Lindauassociated renal cell carcinoma. Mol Cell Biol. 2005;25(13):5675-86.

133. Wang V, Davis DA, Haque M, Huang LE, Yarchoan R. Differential gene upregulation by hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha and hypoxia-inducible factor-2alpha in HEK293T cells. Cancer Res. 2005;65(8):3299-306.

134. Scortegagna M, Ding K, Oktay Y, Gaur A, Thurmond F, Yan LJ, et al. Multiple organ pathology, metabolic abnormalities and impaired homeostasis of reactive oxygen species in Epas1-/- mice. Nat Genet. 2003;35(4):331-40.

135. Makino Y, Kanopka A, Wilson WJ, Tanaka H, Poellinger L. Inhibitory PAS domain protein (IPAS) is a hypoxia-inducible splicing variant of the hypoxia-inducible factor-3alpha locus. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(36):32405-8.

136. Araldi E, Schipani E. Hypoxia, HIFs and bone development. Bone. 2010;47(2):190-6.

137. Pfander D, Kobayashi T, Knight MC, Zelzer E, Chan DA, Olsen BR, et al. Deletion of Vhlh in chondrocytes reduces cell proliferation and increases matrix deposition during growth plate development. Development. 2004;131(10):2497-508.

138. Schipani E, Ryan HE, Didrickson S, Kobayashi T, Knight M, Johnson RS. Hypoxia in

cartilage: HIF-1alpha is essential for chondrocyte growth arrest and survival. Genes Dev. 2001;15(21):2865-76.

139. Zelzer E, Mamluk R, Ferrara N, Johnson RS, Schipani E, Olsen BR. VEGFA is necessary for chondrocyte survival during bone development. Development. 2004;131(9):2161-71.

140. Murphy CL, Polak JM. Control of human articular chondrocyte differentiation by reduced oxygen tension. J Cell Physiol. 2004;199(3):451-9.

141. Lafont JE, Talma S, Murphy CL. Hypoxia-inducible factor 2alpha is essential for hypoxic induction of the human articular chondrocyte phenotype. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(10):3297-306.

142. Lafont JE, Talma S, Hopfgarten C, Murphy CL. Hypoxia promotes the differentiated human articular chondrocyte phenotype through SOX9-dependent and - independent pathways. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(8):4778-86.

143. Wang Y, Wan C, Deng L, Liu X, Cao X, Gilbert SR, et al. The hypoxia-inducible factor alpha pathway couples angiogenesis to osteogenesis during skeletal development. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(6):1616-26.

144. Irwin R, LaPres JJ, Kinser S, McCabe LR. Prolyl-hydroxylase inhibition and HIF activation in osteoblasts promotes an adipocytic phenotype. J Cell Biochem. 2007;100(3):762-72.

145. Utting JC, Robins SP, Brandao-Burch A, Orriss IR, Behar J, Arnett TR. Hypoxia inhibits the growth, differentiation and bone-forming capacity of rat osteoblasts. Exp Cell Res. 2006;312(10):1693-702.

146. Salim A, Nacamuli RP, Morgan EF, Giaccia AJ, Longaker MT. Transient changes in oxygen tension inhibit osteogenic differentiation and Runx2 expression in osteoblasts. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(38):40007-16.

147. Bache M, Reddemann R, Said HM, Holzhausen HJ, Taubert H, Becker A, et al. Immunohistochemical detection of osteopontin in advanced head-and-neck cancer: prognostic role and correlation with oxygen electrode measurements, hypoxiainducible-factor-1alpha-related markers, and hemoglobin levels. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;66(5):1481-7.

148. Gross TS, King KA, Rabaia NA, Pathare P, Srinivasan S. Upregulation of

osteopontin by osteocytes deprived of mechanical loading or oxygen. J Bone Miner Res. 2005;20(2):250-6.

149. Peltomaki T. The effect of mode of breathing on craniofacial growth--revisited. Eur J Orthod. 2007;29(5):426-9.

150. Gallego-Martin T, Farre R, Almendros I, Gonzalez-Obeso E, Obeso A. Chronic intermittent hypoxia mimicking sleep apnoea increases spontaneous tumorigenesis in mice. Eur Respir J. 2017;49(2).

151. Lim DC, Brady DC, Po P, Chuang LP, Marcondes L, Kim EY, et al. Simulating obstructive sleep apnea patients' oxygenation characteristics into a mouse model of cyclical intermittent hypoxia. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2015;118(5):544-57.

152. Nagai H, Kuwahira I, Schwenke DO, Tsuchimochi H, Nara A, Inagaki T, et al. beta2-Adrenergic receptor-dependent attenuation of hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction prevents progression of pulmonary arterial hypertension in intermittent hypoxic rats. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e110693.

153. Dale EA, Ben Mabrouk F, Mitchell GS. Unexpected benefits of intermittent hypoxia: enhanced respiratory and nonrespiratory motor function. Physiology (Bethesda). 2014;29(1):39-48.

154. Chiang AA. Obstructive sleep apnea and chronic intermittent hypoxia: a review. Chin J Physiol. 2006;49(5):234-43.

155. Nagai H, Tsuchimochi, H., Yoshida, K., Shirai, M., Kuwahira I. A novel system including an N2 gas generator and an air compressor for inducing intermittent or chronic hypoxia. international journal of Clinical and Experimental Physiology. 2014;1(4):307.

156. Abbassy MA, Watari I, Soma K. Effect of experimental diabetes on craniofacial growth in rats. Arch Oral Biol. 2008;53(9):819-25.

157. Miyazaki M, Yonemitsu I, Takei M, Kure-Hattori I, Ono T. The imbalance of masticatory muscle activity affects the asymmetric growth of condylar cartilage and subchondral bone in rats. Arch Oral Biol. 2016;63:22-31.

158. Kuroda Y, Yonemitsu I, Hosomichi J, Watari I, Takei M, Ishida Y, et al. Intermittent posterior displacement of the rat mandible in the growth period affects the condylar cancellous bone. Angle Orthod. 2011;81(6):975-82.

159. Frisch BJ, Porter RL, Gigliotti BJ, Olm-Shipman AJ, Weber JM, O'Keefe RJ, et al. In vivo prostaglandin E2 treatment alters the bone marrow microenvironment and preferentially expands short-term hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. 2009;114(19):4054-63.

160. Uekita H, Takahashi S, Domon T, Yamaguchi T. Changes in collagens and chondrocytes in the temporomandibular joint cartilage in growing rats fed a liquid diet. Annals of Anatomy-Anatomischer Anzeiger. 2015;202:78-87.

161. Li Q, Zhang M, Chen Y-J, Zhou Q, Wang Y-j, Liu J. Psychological stress alters
microstructure of the mandibular condyle in rats. Physiology & behavior. 2013;110:12939.

162. Oyhanart SR, Escudero ND, Mandalunis PM. Effect of alendronate on the mandible and long bones: an experimental study in vivo. Pediatr Res. 2015;78(6):618-25.

163. Lupu F, Terwilliger JD, Lee K, Segre GV, Efstratiadis A. Roles of growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor 1 in mouse postnatal growth. Dev Biol. 2001;229(1):141-62.

164. Sengupta P. The Laboratory Rat: Relating Its Age With Human's. Int J Prev Med. 2013;4(6):624-30.

165. Kiliaridis S. Masticatory muscle influence on craniofacial growth. Acta Odontol Scand. 1995;53(3):196-202.

166. Kawai N, Sano R, Korfage JA, Nakamura S, Kinouchi N, Kawakami E, et al. Adaptation of rat jaw muscle fibers in postnatal development with a different food consistency: an immunohistochemical and electromyographic study. J Anat. 2010;216(6):717-23.

167. Boyce BF, Xing L. Functions of RANKL/RANK/OPG in bone modeling and remodeling. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2008;473(2):139-46.

168. Camacho-Cardenosa M, Camacho-Cardenosa A, Timon R, Olcina G, Tomas-CarusP, Brazo-Sayavera J. Can Hypoxic Conditioning Improve Bone Metabolism? A SystematicReview. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(10).

169. Guner I, Uzun DD, Yaman MO, Genc H, Gelisgen R, Korkmaz GG, et al. The effect of chronic long-term intermittent hypobaric hypoxia on bone mineral density in rats:

role of nitric oxide. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2013;154(2):262-7.

170. Raff H, Bruder ED, Jankowski BM, Colman RJ. Effect of neonatal hypoxia on leptin, insulin, growth hormone and body composition in the rat. Horm Metab Res. 2001;33(3):151-5.

171. Torres M, Montserrat JM, Pavia J, Dalmases M, Ros D, Fernandez Y, et al. Chronic intermittent hypoxia preserves bone density in a mouse model of sleep apnea. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2013;189(3):646-8.

172. Usui M, Xing L, Drissi H, Zuscik M, O'Keefe R, Chen D, et al. Murine and chicken chondrocytes regulate osteoclastogenesis by producing RANKL in response to BMP2. J Bone Miner Res. 2008;23(3):314-25.

173. Liu L, Simon MC. Regulation of transcription and translation by hypoxia. Cancer Biol Ther. 2004;3(6):492-7.

174. Huang H, Yu J, Yu D, Li Y, Lu S. Effects of chemically induced hypoxia on in vitro expression of hypoxia inducible factor-lalpha, vascular endothelial growth factor, aggrecanase-1, and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 in rat mandibular condylar chondrocytes. J Oral Facial Pain Headache. 2014;28(3):269-76.

175. Bianchi G, Di Giulio C, Rapino C, Rapino M, Antonucci A, Cataldi A. p53 and p66 proteins compete for hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha stabilization in young and old rat hearts exposed to intermittent hypoxia. Gerontology. 2006;52(1):17-23.

176. Henry SP, Liang S, Akdemir KC, de Crombrugghe B. The postnatal role of Sox9 in cartilage. J Bone Miner Res. 2012;27(12):2511-25.

177. Peacock JD, Levay AK, Gillaspie DB, Tao G, Lincoln J. Reduced sox9 function promotes heart valve calcification phenotypes in vivo. Circ Res. 2010;106(4):712-9.

178. Kozhemyakina E, Lassar AB, Zelzer E. A pathway to bone: signaling molecules and transcription factors involved in chondrocyte development and maturation. Development. 2015;142(5):817-31.

179. Hardingham TE, Oldershaw RA, Tew SR. Cartilage, SOX9 and Notch signals in chondrogenesis. J Anat. 2006;209(4):469-80.



Chulalongkorn University

VITA

NAME

Kochakorn Lekvijittada

DATE OF BIRTH 5 June 1989

_

PLACE OF BIRTH Bangkok

INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED

124 Moo 1, Donkaidee, Krathumbaen, Samutsakhon

PUBLICATION

HOME ADDRESS

AWARD RECEIVED



จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย Chulalongkorn University